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P R O C E E D I N G S
MADAM PRESIDENT:

Good morning to all.  The Court is in session now.  

May we have the appearances?  

MR. BABAJIDE:

May it please you, My Lords, the appearance for the Prosecutor remains the same.  

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Thank you.  

Defence.  

MS. ST‑LAURENT:

The Defence for Mr. Casimir Bizimungu remains the same, Madam President.  And I wish to all of you a good day.  

MR. GUMPERT:

Likewise for the Mugenzi team.  

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Thank you.  

Yes.  

MR. CROTEAU:

This is also valid for Mr. Bicamumpaka's Defence team. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Thank you.  

MR. MORAN:

Your Honours, there's been no changes with us overnight.  

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Okay.  Thank you.  

Good morning, Mr. Bicamumpaka.  

THE WITNESS:

Good morning, Madam President.  Good morning, Your Honours.  

MADAM PRESIDENT:

How are you today?  

THE WITNESS:

I am very well, thank you, Madam President.  

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Mr. Croteau, please, go ahead.  

MR. CROTEAU:

I'm much obliged, Madam President.

JÉRÔME-CLÉMENT BICAMUMPAKA
EXAMINATION‑IN‑CHIEF (continued),
BY MR. CROTEAU:

Q.
Mr. Bicamumpaka, yesterday, at the end of the day, we parted when ‑‑ after you made a presentation on the signing of the protocol on the rule of law and guarantees regarding human rights between the Rwandan government and the RPF, the protocol dated 18th August 1992.  You had made mention of the information you had received and of the information you had provided to the representative of the MDR who was in Arusha for the negotiation of this protocol.  

My following question is as follows:  Once it was adopted, did you take cognisance of this protocol?  And what were its salient points? 

A.
Yes, Counsel, I did become aware of this protocol a few days only after it was adopted and signed in Arusha.  As a matter of fact, once the document was signed in Arusha, copies of it were sent to the Rwandan authorities in Kigali, and the executive secretariat of the MDR party also received a copy in that context.  It would receive copies from the prime minister, especially Dismas Nsengiyaremye, since he was a member of the MDR party, and was one of the four members of the steering committee.  

So that is how I came to know about this document, especially in my capacity as chairman of the committee ‑‑ the party committee in charge of studies and programmes.  So that ‑‑ within the framework of other reflection processes on the actions of the MDR party, and also for the purpose of the monitoring of the different reforms we wanted to have implemented, which would be implemented by the transitional government that was in power at the time.  It was important for us to be informed of the different protocols adopted in Arusha as and when they were adopted.  

Of course this was 14 years ago, or even more, and it is difficult for me to say precisely what it contains, but what I can say in general terms is that the protocol provided general framework for the full expression of the rights of Rwandan citizens.  The rule of law was defined in the document as well as its inherent characteristics.  And through this document, the Rwandan citizen became the central element of the governmental policy in Rwanda.  Nothing could be done that would run against the interests of Rwandan citizens unless it was necessary for public interest.  So law had to be complied with.  There were a number of elements that needed to be complied with, and the judicial authorities were to guarantee that these laws and regulations be complied with, but the legislative powers, the executive powers were also to observe such rights and freedoms so that there would be no constraint imposed on the citizens.  So all these elements were clearly stipulated in the document and, at the time, I was quite satisfied because this is what I had been fighting for, even before there were different political parties in Rwanda, and this was becoming a reality in Rwanda.  

So this is what I can say unless I am given the text and I can comment upon it.  I saw it a long time ago.  And this is all I can say on it.  

Q.
So this was my question:  I was asking you for the salient points.  And the document is amongst the Prosecution exhibits.  And we shall refer to it later.  

For the time being, you have mentioned a number of reforms.  Were there reforms implemented and did they correspond to the objectives of the MDR? 

A.
Counsel, first of all, I wish to say that before 1990, the Rwandan law had to ‑‑ many drawbacks, which were clear to everyone, but I cannot say that it was entirely bad.  Without guaranteeing the rule of law, the Rwandan law was not observed.  

There was a problem at the level of the mindset in which many Rwandan magistrates were.  They obeyed more the informal orders given by some leaders than the Rwandan law itself; for example, judicial police officers did not observe rights that were contained in the Rwandan constitution.  The Rwandan government had adopted the universal declaration of human rights, as well as the protocol on civil and political rights and all other international conventions.  The main problem was to change people's mindsets and we, in the MDR party, deemed the change in mentalities to be a very important element.  There was a need to change the mentalities of the ordinary citizen who, from our standpoint, should not blindly obey local authorities, especially when the local authorities were not observing laws and regulations and obviously so.  

We also wanted to bring about a change of mentality at the level of the authorities themselves, that is to say, the bourgmestre and all the different levels up to the head of state.  There was a need for all these officials to also change their mindsets.  We knew that if there were no safeguards, and if there was no effective control, this change would not happen overnight and it would not be possible to affect this change at all levels.  

So in the MDR party, it was necessary for us to initiate reforms but, of course, since we were not sitting in the government, we were not in a position to do so.  And this is why we demanded that multiparty democracy be instituted and that we participate in such a multiparty government.  And this was the case as early as April of 1992.  It appears clearly in the programme of this government that there were a number of reforms we were fighting for.  Yesterday, I mentioned seven points that were, in fact, the salient points of this governmental programme.  One of these points were, for example, the streamlining of administrations.  

In MDR, we wanted to make clear changes so that the administration would be reformed, renovated.  We wanted to do away with all the bottlenecks that prevented worthy civil servants from being promoted.  We wanted civil servants not to be afraid to comply with the law in discharging their duties since many civil servants had been the victims of actions by some of the prominent leaders of the government because whatever they had done was not in keeping with the individual interests of some of these high officials.  Some were sanctioned, others were posted elsewhere, some were seriously threatened.  And, of course, this posed a problem for the job security.  And we did not wish for this to happen; we wished for people to feel safe.  

There were bourgmestres who terrorised their constituencies.  We wanted them to be unable to continue to do so in the future.  And we wanted significant improvements to be made, and there were, indeed, improvements.  

If I were to make a personal assessment, I would say that this was a coalition government in that its members came from different political parties that were competing with one another.  So one could not expect miracles, and one could not expect all the objectives to be reached during the term of office of that government, but we can still consider that we reached our objectives to the tune of 25 to 30 per cent, which, from my standpoint, was positive.  

And I was hoping that with the broad-based transitional government, in which the RPF was to participate, whatever results we had not been able to reach before would be, at the time, since, on the basis of my personal assessment, I was convinced that the reluctance that had been obvious since then would be, if not neutralised, at least diminished, and that under such circumstances it would be easier for the new leaders, for the new government to implement such reforms.  

So in a nutshell, this is what I can say.  The reforms were in keeping with the objectives of the MDR, and I would add that it was difficult, but we needed to change people's states of mind.  We made efforts in that regard.  Our results were not excellent but, in view of the situation prevailing at the time, I would say that the results were satisfactory.  

Q.
Mr. Bicamumpaka, I'm now going to refer you to the letter of Prime Minister Dismas Nsengiyaremye of the 19th of September 1992 which we find in binder C, page 98.  And the title of that letter is:  "The state of execution and the stalemate in the implementation of the agenda of the transitional government."   

Now, my question will be as follows.  

MR. BABAJIDE:

My Lords, could Counsel repeat the date of that letter, please?  

MR. CROTEAU:

The date of the document is the 22nd of September 1992.  And you will find it in the binders that were distributed, that is, binder C, page 98 in the French, and page 198E in English.  

MR. BABAJIDE:

Most grateful to my learned friend. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Is it is 198 or 98?  

MR. CROTEAU:

198.  

BY MR. CROTEAU:

Q.
Do you have that before you, Mr. Bicamumpaka?

A.
Yes, I do.  

Q.
Now, my question is that apparently this letter originated from the MDR.  Do you confirm that?  And my question is ‑‑ 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

This letter is Exhibit 3D. 20?  

MR. CROTEAU:

No. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Three D ‑‑ 

MR. CROTEAU:

No, Madam President.  This document has not been given an exhibit number yet.  I think we'll get there by the end of the day.  

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Sorry.  Go ahead, please.  

BY MR. CROTEAU:

Q.
Regarding that letter, Mr. Bicamumpaka, that is, in the file C, on page 189, that is a letter from Mr. Nsengiyaremye, Dismas, to President Habyarimana on the 22nd of September 1992.  Now, what is the purpose of ‑‑ what are the objectives of that letter?  What did the MDR seek to achieve with that letter? 

A.
The letter that I have before me is a letter that was written by Mr. Dismas Nsengiyaremye as prime minister of Rwanda at the time.  And he's writing to President Habyarimana, the head of state.  The purpose of the letter was to inform the head of state that there were stalemates in the government which were hamstringing the implementation of the government programme as adopted on the 7th of April 1992.  This adoption ‑‑ or, rather, this programme was adopted by the leaders of the five political parties in the government coalition.  The letter was written five months ‑‑ five to six months following the formation of the government, so this was a mid-term report that the head of the government was making in a bid to encourage the head of state to use all his powers in favour of the implementation of the government programme or agenda.  

I could refer you to some paragraphs of the government if the Court so grants me leave.  

Q.
Please, go ahead, Mr. Bicamumpaka.

A.
Madam President, I wish to ask you to refer to page 198, and on the third paragraph of that page of the letter.  We only have a French draft.  We are sorry that we don't have the English.  

So this is what is written therein, in the lines that will follow.  I'm going to give you, in a nutshell, the progress report of the implementation of the government programme and some illustrations of certain obstacles to the implementation of government action, or to the execution of the government actions.  

So, Madam President, I will now advise you to go to page 199, that is the following page, and we are going to see paragraphs two through four of that page.  And in the second point entitled, "Ensuring internal security", are the paragraphs that follow.  And I'll begin reading:  

"Although right up to early August 1992, we saw that those who were laying mines and throwing grenades were no longer doing this.  The terrorist actions heightened entailing lots of losses.  People were already beginning to forget the unfortunate events of Kibilira" ‑‑ that is K‑I‑B‑I‑L‑I‑R‑A ‑‑ "and of Bugesera" ‑‑ B‑U‑G‑E‑S‑E‑R‑A ‑‑ "and that the same kinds of problems suffers in Kibuye.  Although the law governing political parties are ‑‑ forbids the institution of private militias, we have to note that in certain organisations of youth wings of parties are soldiers that disguise themselves as civilians.  The parties concerned ought to dissolve the militias forthwith."  

Now, I'm going to invite Madam President to look at point three, entitled, "To assess and streamline the various administrative services of the state."  And I'm only going to deal with the first paragraph.  And I'll begin reading that paragraph.  

"On this topic, to which the administrative council devoted quite a good portion of its meeting, there are still constituents or obstacles regarding the streamlining of the central administrative and the préfectoral administrative services."  

Now, Madam President, I would like to refer you to page 201, paragraph 1.  Page 201, first paragraph.  Now I will start to read:  

"For instance, there have been cases of flagrant unjustified obstacles to the government actions.  Ministers from the MRND, which is the party of the president of the republic, are ‑‑ did not attend the ministerial council meetings at the crucial time when the Arusha ‑‑ two negotiations had to be prepared.  It is surprising ‑‑ it is astonishing that, at the time when the government is advocating, dialogue with the RPF, the ministers from the MRND party would rather resort to organising strikes in order to have themselves heard.  Some of them do not ‑‑ or, there are people who don't understand how the ‑‑ they would rather resort to strike which undermines government solidarity ‑‑ were supported by you by deciding personally to postpone to a later date the holding of the cabinet meeting of the 3rd of August 1992.”  

“(b)  ORINFOR, which is a very important instrument for sensitising people with respect to (unintelligible), and for national reconciliation, and for the restoration of domestic peace, as well as for the smooth conduct of the democratisation process, is still without leadership and that ‑‑ this does not make sense.”  

And the point regarding the appointment of the director of ORINFOR was inserted on the agenda of the cabinet meeting of the 5th of June 1992, but the ministers ‑‑ the MRND ministers blocked that appointment ‑‑ small (Inaudible).  

“The cabinet meeting unanimously set up a commission for the assessment of state employees.  That commission has just tabled its initial assessment report in respect of communal and a préfectoral administrative service personnel.”  

“At a ministerial meeting of the 18th of September 1992, the members of government, that were members of the MRND, categorically refused to examine the said report.  Some people may draw the conclusion that this was tantamount to protecting certain bourgmestres, in particular, those who were involved or implicated in the disturbances observed in Murambi” ‑‑ Murambi is spelt M‑U‑R‑A‑M‑B‑I ‑‑ “and at Bugesera” ‑‑ B‑U‑G‑E‑S‑E‑R‑A – “as well as those involved in the massacres of Bagogwe” ‑‑ B‑A‑G‑O‑G‑W‑E.

Now, let's deal with point (e).  “Those responsible for the increasing insecurity move about scot‑free and they are causing terror and desolation of -- wherever they go.  The knack for inter ‑‑ for certain authorities to interfere annihilate any interventions on the part of the office of the prosecutor, and of the gendarmerie, as well as other certain administrative services and authorities.  And since the Interahamwe ‑‑ the Interahamwe group is the only organisation that includes soldiers amongst it.  And since these ‑‑ these youth are coordinated more by policemen than by politicians, this group should be called to order and they should be asked to refrain from terrorising members of the population.”  
I will now request that we move to the last excerpt on page 202.  And this would be point (h), in the middle of the page.  And I will begin reading the said excerpt:  

"The bill concerning the appointment to a higher level, civilian and military positions by the president of the republic, is still ‑‑ has not yet been done following the obstacles raised by the ministers, from the MRND party, who have gone as far as requiring that the prime minister should not even appoint the authorities that will be responsible for those services.  This, Madam President, in a nutshell, illustrates the constraints that the transition government, that was led by Dismas Nsengiyaremye, had -- and the result of this was that the reforms for which the MDR party had fought hard, and that we had proposed to the four other parties with which we formed the government coalition during the negotiations that were held from March to April 1992, and which reforms had been (unintelligible) or incorporated in the government agenda could not be implemented for various reasons.  

And the consequences of the failure to implement these measures were multi‑failures.  We have seen that even the gendarmerie and the office of the prosecutor found their work hamstrung by the interference of certain figures of authority and that, on the other hand, there were terrorist actions in the form of bombs that were thrown in different areas of the country, thus causing lots of human and material damage.  I'm talking about these terrorist actions.  There were negotiations that were carried out by experts, including experts from France.  And the investigations showed that these terrorist actions were perpetrated by RPF soldiers that had infiltrated the population.  And the government action, therefore, was affected by this.  The government could not apply or implement its programme entirely as agreed.  This is what I have to say on the matter so far, Madam President.  

Q.
To your knowledge, Mr. Bicamumpaka, did the president of the republic, Mr. Habyarimana, react to these queries made by the prime minister in his letter of the 22nd of September 1992?

A.
To my knowledge, the president did not react formerly, say, through a letter to the queries, but I remember that I asked this question to Dismas Nsengiyaremye, that is the prime minister at the time.  We met, kind of, and I asked him whether the president had responded to his letter, and he said he had a working session with the head of state and that the discussions between the two were quite heated.  The president did not ‑‑ was not pleased that the head of government was accusing him personally.  He could have accused someone else, but not him personally, the head of state, as being one of those that were causing constraints in carrying out government action.  

Secondly, Mr. President (sic), the president did not ‑‑ was not pleased with the fact that the prime minister made that letter public.  He would have preferred that the issue be discussed between the two officials and that ‑‑ or, between ‑‑ or, amongst the members of government, but that this should have been publicised.  But then the ‑‑ Nsengiyaremye's strength was not derived from his position as prime minister but, rather, the people that were behind him, in particular his party, the MDR.  This is a party that was in government but that was an opposition party.  And I will ‑‑ amongst these parties were the Parti Libéral, the Parti social démocrate.  And these parties formed a strength that were behind Nsengiyaremye and that could make it possible for him to adopt an attitude that was favourable to political reform.  This is what I can say in addition to what I've said already.  

But I have said that there were constraints, but the government continued to meet.  Unfortunately, those obstacles persisted because Dismas himself, at some point or some five months later, was compelled to leave the government.  

Q.
Now, Mr. Bicamumpaka, from that letter, should we infer that the negotiations continued to hold in Arusha and that there was a second phase that was begun following the letter that was drafted on the 22nd of October?  Or, what happened?  Can you tell us what happened on -- in October, where the letter was originally transmitted on September 1992?  

A.
And, at the time, the head of the Rwandan delegations in the negotiations was in Arusha, that is, Boniface Ngulinzira, and the negotiations were continuing, but unfortunately the atmosphere was not very conducive for the negotiations and why was it so.  

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Slow down.  Slow down.  

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

Thank you, madam.  

THE WITNESS:

I was saying, therefore, that the negotiations continued to be conducted in Arusha, but under difficult circumstances, under tense atmosphere and that, indeed ‑‑ well, what was the purpose of the negotiations in Arusha?  They involved a crucial aspect, that is, power sharing in a broad-based transitional government that would include the RPF.  It so happens that those who had the power already did not have the will to relinquish power to share the power, so one can understand that the reluctance that was met was such that the ‑‑ those who had power already would want to relinquish as little power as possible to the opposition and to the RPF.  So on the 30th of October 1992, was when the first part of the negotiations ended.  And I'm talking about negotiations that had to do with the power sharing.  A memorandum of understanding was signed during the affect between the two heads of delegation.  And that memorandum of understanding was all the more important, that it set specifically which post would devolve to each of the political parties in government and to the RPF, the nature of the positions and their numbers ‑‑ and a number thereof.  

The memorandum of understanding also determined the number of seats for each party in parliament, that is, for each of the five political parties that were in the government coalition in Rwanda as well as to the RPF, but then, as you are aware, power and exercise thereof in almost all democratic countries is exercised in parliament and also by the government.  So the stakes were very high.  And we are going to see the consequences of the sharing of power in the month that followed, but then the initial consensus was that power had to be shared between the various political stakeholders.  And at the level of the MDR, to which I belonged, we were satisfied because this was an important milestone that had been achieved.  And if we complied with the terms of the memorandum of understanding, definitely the democratic process would have been guaranteed just as peace would have been restored.  That is the answer that I can give to the question that you put to me.  

BY MR. CROTEAU:

Q.
From your answer, Mr. Bicamumpaka, now, can you tell us what was the MDR's position, or can you say how that first part of the memorandum of understanding concerning power sharing reflected an answer to the aspirations or to the ‑‑ or, to what the MDR was advocating? 

A.
One of the objectives of the MDR ‑‑ or, rather, the objective of the MDR, as is the case with any political party, was to accede to power through elections, that is through a democratic transparent, fair and objective elections.  

We were coming out of a system where there had never been democratic elections organised.  The only democratic elections that had been organised in Rwanda were organised in the early 60s.  These were multiparty elections that had UN observers present.  And the outcome, as far as I am concerned, as well as other Rwandan and foreigners are concerned, reflected the people's will.  And from 1965, elections were always characterised by lots of irregularities.  So we had behind us more than 30 years during which Rwandans had never ‑‑ had not democratically and freely chosen their political leaders.  We, therefore, needed a transitional period or a transition which would set the stage and ‑‑ for satisfactory democratic elections.  

And from our standpoint, in the MDR, we believed that this transition could be fair.  In order to be fair, we would have to be managed jointly by the different political forces in the country, including the MDR.  And this is what explains our demand for coalition a government.  

With the memorandum of understanding on power sharing, that was signed on the 30th October 1992, we had made one additional step in the right direction because we had been able to agree on the future national transitional assembly, ANT being the acronym, and on the membership of this parliament which was to replace the CND, national development council, whose members all belonged to a single political party, the MRND, who had all been elected when there was a single party in power, which means that we would have an important political entity which would be fully democratic and in which the desires and wishes of the population would be taken into account.  And it was our hope that this would be managed in a way that would lead to general elections.  So the MDR, we were quite satisfied with this step forward and we were hoping that we would continue making progress towards that objective.  That was the wish of all of us.  

Q.
Now, on the government side, at the level of Mr. Dismas, in his capacity as prime minister, did the events following this agreement enable you to implement the objectives as stipulated in the memorandum of agreement of the 30th of October 1992? 

A.
Counsel, my apologies, but I wish for you to repeat your question because I did not understand it correctly.  

Q.
Yes.  So, in your testimony you said that, on the side of the MDR, the signing of the memorandum of understanding on power sharing was quite satisfactory and seemed to be a good omen for the future.  My question was:  What were the reactions of the government chaired or presided over by Mr. Dismas and not by the MRND?  And can you, perhaps, also tell the Trial Chamber whether you heard any of the reactions of the population following the signing of this memorandum of understanding? 

A.
What I can say on this matter ‑‑ 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Mr. Croteau, you have asked so many questions in one question.  It's a bit confusing.  

MR. CROTEAU:

You are entirely right, Madam President.  I wish to apologise.  And I shall rephrase.  

BY MR. CROTEAU:

Q.
Mr. Bicamumpaka, following the signing of the memorandum of understanding on power sharing, did ‑‑ was the government able to implement some of the objectives or conclusions of the protocol in the following days?  What happened on the government side after the signature of this protocol or memorandum? 

A.
As far as I know, I was not a member of that government, but I was a very attentive and interested observer, obviously.  I do not believe there was any positive development regarding the atmosphere within the government.  I believe the obstacles were still there.  The problems were not amongst the members of the government, but we were able to note that there were, indeed, such obstacles from outside.  

It was after the signing of this memorandum of understanding that there was one affect that had not been visible before the 30th of October 1992.  It was the first time that we saw the head of state, President Habyarimana, go and attend a public rally in a stadium and take the floor, which he had never done before, and this is to show how high the stakes were.  

The document was signed on the 30th of October.  And two weeks later, on the 15th of November, he attended a public rally which is important, which shows what was at stake and also shows that the head of state, President Habyarimana, was ready to put up a fight.  That is one thing.  

If we look at the situation a number of months later, the situation is going to worsen.  And in January of 1993, members of opposition parties in Rwanda will be attacked in a number of préfectures such as Kibuye, Gisenyi, Ruhengeri, and Kigali‑rural.  These are the main préfectures where there were serious incidences with human casualties as well as persons injured, and a lot of damage.  And the perpetrators of such criminal acts were, as it was proven later, Interahamwe, from the MRND party and Impuzamugambi from the CDR party.  In other words, the memorandum of understanding on power sharing led to unacceptable reactions -- illegal and unacceptable reactions as if the objective was to stay in power by resorting to violence.  And this violence was targeting the democratic oppositions.  

My conclusion regarding your question is that apparently the leaders of the MRND and CDR parties were not satisfied with the memorandum of understanding of the 30th of October.  

My second conclusion is that ‑‑ 

Q.
Mr. Bicamumpaka, I wish to apologise, but on two occasions you referred to the protocol of the 30th of October 1990.  Was that the correct date? 

A.
Yes, indeed; 30th October 1990 ‑‑ no, 1990.  And then I will come back to the memorandum of understanding of 1992.  

So with regard to my second conclusion, it has to do with the implementation of the political programme of the Nsengiyaremye government, as it appeared in the memorandum of understanding of 1992.  And from my observation there was a step back.  Since the objective of the memorandum of 1992 was to negotiate peace, and peace does not go hand in hand with violence.  The objective was to guarantee the security of the population, to streamline the administration.  And it was exactly the reverse that was achieved.  In other words, some of the Rwandan authorities, at the time, without officially saying so, had decided not to implement the memorandum of understanding and they remained in a government they no longer believed in and they did ‑‑ they no longer supported.  And this is why I am saying that it was a step backwards, which was quite a dangerous situation and is an explanation to what occurred subsequently.  

As regards the reactions within the population, you asked me about immediately after the Arusha protocol was signed on the 30th of October 1992, the protocol and power sharing.  The population was divided.  That was what I was able to observe at the time.  The population was divided because those who were members of opposition parties was satisfied, whereas those who were members of the MRND or other parties that were close to the MRND were not; for example, they did not want the RPF to be given the home ministry.  They were saying, "How can someone coming from outside, and who does not know the country, be awarded a ministry as important as the home ministry, or ministry of the interior, which is supposed to organise general elections?"  So they were against this decision and they were being quite outspoken about it.  

But, Counsel, let me say that during the negotiations, in the MDR party there was a meeting of the political bureau during which the different proposals made in Arusha were discussed.  And I participated in that meeting.  Let me give you an example:  It was said that between the ministry of the interior, the ministry of national defence, the ministry of foreign affairs, the RPF had to be awarded at least one of these ministries.  Would it be national defence or the ministry of interior?  So this was a matter that was put on the table.  It was not easy to resolve it.  And even for those who did not wish for the RPF to be awarded the ministry of the interior, they ended up accepting because they did not wish for the RPF to be awarded over the national defence ministry.  So during negotiations there are always compromises.  And this is how it happened.  

So the ‑‑ this was what was agreed upon but, of course, there was a divide within the population, people disagreed, but with no animosity, except that three months down the line there would be attacks against the lives of members of opposition parties.  End of the MDR.

Q.
Mr. Bicamumpaka, during the month after the 30th of October 1992, and the signature of this document, I believe a speech was made by Mr. Mugesera on the 22nd of November 1992.  And I stand to be corrected by you.  Are you able to infer any consequences from this speech?  And what was the position of the MDR regarding the said speech? 

A.
It is true that Mr. Léon Mugesera, who was a high official of the MRND party and was also a lecturer at the national university of Rwanda, had made a public speech in a location called Kabaya, in the Gisenyi préfecture.  I was not attending this public rally of the MRND party.  But the next week we heard reactions of people who were complaining and were repeating, rightly or wrongly, things that were allegedly said by Mr. Mugesera.  The following Sunday, the 29th November 1992, the MDR party organised a rally in the Gatonde commune, if I am not mistaken.  Gatonde being spelt G‑A‑T‑O‑N‑D‑E.  Gatonde is one of the communes of Ruhengeri.  And myself, as well as a number of other MDR party members, left Kigali on that Sunday morning in order to participate in the rally we had organised.  

On that day, I did not wish to use my personal vehicle and I was on board a minibus.  We had rented a 12 or 13 or 14‑seat minibus.  I do not recall precisely.  And in that vehicle there was Donat Murego, who was the chairman of the MDR party in the Ruhengeri préfecture.  And in his capacity, as a leader of the party at the national level, he had been able to obtain the radio cassette of Léon Mugesera's speech.  

As soon as the vehicle left Kigali, we were in a convoy, but he asked us to listen to Mugesera's speech in the minibus in order for us to give our opinions.  So he put the tape in the tape recorder of the vehicle.  And what I can tell you is that there were around 12 to 14 people in the vehicle.  We were all taken back because this speech was beyond belief.  One could not believe that an intellectual such as Mugesera could have made such a speech, especially in view of its contents.  We counted the number of times the word "kill" was pronounced in this speech.  I believe it was more than ‑‑ more than 12 times.  It was told that X or Y was to be killed.  And it was clearly stated in that speech ‑‑ he was asking the people of Gisenyi he was addressing to no longer authorise parties such as the MDR to be physically present in there préfecture.  And he was saying that if anyone dared to fly an MDR flag, because we had our flag which distinguished us from other political parties, that that person and the flag were to be destroyed.  

Referring to the Tutsi, he said in his speech that there were people who wanted to destroy Rwanda and that it was necessary to preempt on their actions and to destroy them before Rwanda was destroyed.  So this was a totally unacceptable speech.  In our capacity as opposition parties, we were targeted, and the Tutsis were also targeted.  There were Tutsis within the MDR as well as in other political parties.  We condemned this speech and demanded that Mr. Mugesera be prosecuted.  And the minister of justice, who was a respectable and respected man, who was a lawyer by training, who had a private practice, and who had as ‑‑ just as us, in 1990, became involved in the opposition,  whose name was M‑B‑N‑A‑M‑P‑E‑K‑A (sic), Stanislas ‑‑ instructed his employees to issue a warrant of arrest against Mr. Mugesera.  That was done.  But, once again, I told you how powerful the Akazu was.  

The Akazu people were everywhere in the administration.  So Mugesera was aware of this warrant of arrest even before it went out of the office of the public prosecutor who had just issued it.  So Mugesera was hidden so that the public prosecution offices and the police services were never able to locate him.  So he was hidden for a number of days before he was sent out of Rwanda and he never came back.  

So, in a nutshell, the MDR condemned the speech, demanded that Mugesera be prosecuted.  It was easy for us to formulate our demands because we simply informed Prime Minister Dismas Nsengiyaremye of the situation and, in view of the seriousness of the situation, he instructed his minister of justice to prosecute Mr. Mugesera.  And that was done.  So this is the answer I can give you.  

Q.
Following the speech, Mr. Bicamumpaka, to your knowledge, was it possible for you to attend joint ceremonies with people from the MRND or flag ceremonies in the Gisenyi préfecture?

A.
Mugesera's speech was made on the 22nd November 1992, towards the end of 1992.  I did not personally attend or participate in any rally, be it in public or in a closed space, or in a hall.  I was never invited by any political party to attend such a meeting, neither in Gisenyi nor in Gitarama, or Kigali, or anywhere else in Rwanda. 
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THE WITNESS: (continued)
In the situation I just referred to, with Leon Bugesera asking his audience to kill any MDR member who would come to the Gisenyi préfecture, you can easily understand that going to Gisenyi under such circumstances would be ‑‑ would be death for me.  The MDR and the MRND would not have authorisied such joint meetings in any case.  There was opposition on the signing of the memorandum of understanding on power sharing in October 1992, and this does not enable members of the MDR and the MRND to organise a joint rally and start discussing.  That was not possible, and any person who would say such a thing would be lying.  That was not possible.  A member of the MDR who would have attended an MRND rally night not have been informed of the situation, and so would have been irresponsible and would have done it without knowing what was at stake.  That is all I can say.  

BY MR. CROTEAU:

Q.
Did the MDR punish any of its members for having participated in rallies where violence was encouraged? 

A.
Counsel, I fail to understand your question, but as far as I know I do not know of any member of the MDR party, or at least of the body such as the steering committee, who would have participated in a meeting where violence had been ‑‑ unless you repeat your question, I must say I do not understand it.  I do not know any person who would have done that. 

Q.
My question is whether the MDR sanctioned one of its members because he or she had participated in a meeting where violence was mentioned? 

A.
I do not recall ‑‑ either I do not understand your question or I do not recall.  But I am not aware of any case in which the MDR would have sanctioned one of its members because violence was referred to during political rallies; this is not ‑‑ this does not ring a bell, unless I am not understanding your question correctly. 

Q.
Let us now move to 1993.  On the 9th January 1993, in Arusha, did the negotiation process continue and was there another stage reached in the memorandum of understanding?  From the 30th of October to the 9th of January 1993, were there ongoing negotiations in Arusha and how did they occur? 

A.
Yes, Counsel, the negotiations continued in Arusha.  Despite the heightening tension in the country the negotiations continued forth.  Indeed, on the 3rd of October 1992, the initiators have disposed of the issue of the power sharing there were some subchapters that still had to be negotiated and the minister, Boniface Ngulinzira remained in Arusha to negotiate with the RPF, and on the 9th of January the second part of the problems concerning power sharing culminated in a compromise that was included in a memorandum of understanding on power sharing, (inaudible) where it was included in the first one.  I think this was signed on the 1st of January 1993.  

This was signed within an atmosphere of heightening tension, and the signing of that memorandum of understanding, itself, was a source of a tension that ended in criminal acts around the 20thh of January 1993.  And there was another violation of the ceasefire by the RPF, since they resumed hostilities during the night of the 9th of February ‑‑ to the 8th of February 1993. 

BY MR. CROTEAU:

Madam President, and the various parties in this courtroom, I would like to refer you to file C, page 204. 

MS. ST‑LAURENT:  

Objection, Madam President.  Objection to any question on that matter.  Madam President, that document on page 204 and the pages that follow ‑‑ I am sorry, I have a cold and I can't speak clearly.  
Now, so this is a document that has not been identified and it has not been signed, and all that we can find there are writings and a date appended on the document.  We do not know the source of the document.  There's no source, no identification, there are no signatures and just about anybody could have written what we have on that document.  And we have been able to tender, for admission into evidence, personal writings.  There is a K0 number, but that does not indicate anything as far as I am concerned, because for starters just about anybody could write anything.  This is a document that has not been signed or identified.  So, I object to any questions being put on that document.  It has not been properly identified.  I would refer to it as a piece of paper that is worth nothing.  It could have been written by anybody from the MDR or by any other person, and what is written there could have been written after the date, Kigali, the 26th, whatever would have been written.  So I object to any question being put in respect of this document. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Mr. Croteau, please just a minute.  

MS. ST‑LAURENT:

Madam President ‑‑ Madam President, I have another important point I would like to make in reference to the document.  If you look at the date, Kigali, 12th of January 1993, this was a date that was added.  It is not even in the same typography ‑‑ or, that was used to write the other things there.  I mean a different typing machine must have been used to type that date.  If you look at the pages 204 and 209, it is not with the same machine, typing machine, and that the date was added to the page.  And what is more, the document has neither been signed nor identified. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Is there any objection from the other co‑accused?  

Mr. Gumpert? 

MR. GUMPERT:

None. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Mr. Moran?  

MR. MORAN:

None. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Thank you. 

Mr. Babajide.  

MR. BABAJIDE:

We don't have a dog in this fight.  

MADAM PRESIDENT: 

Mr. Croteau, we need to hear your response.  

MR. CROTEAU:

With all due respect to the objection raised by my learned friend, Madam President, I think, for starters it is premature, because I was trying to establish the origin, the source of the document since it is not signed.  What knowledge does Mr. Bicamumpaka know of the document?  And, thirdly, how does he intend to use it?  And following those three points, the questions asked as to the admissibility of the document could be addressed.  

MS. ST‑LAURENT:

Madam President, the approach utilised by my learned friend does not dispose of my objection, but if he wants to use that approach to conduct his examination I do agree with him.  I do endorse the approach that my learned friend wants to use in examining the witness.  And I may raise my objection subsequently, if that is okay with you, Madam President? 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Okay.  Go on, Mr. Croteau. 

BY MR. CROTEAU:

Q.
Mr. Bicamumpaka, first of all, how did you come to have this document in your custody which is a letter entitled "The MRND Interahamwe militia ravaged the Ruhengeri préfecture", and this document was dated 26th of January 1993; how did you come by it? 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Just a minute.  

Continue, Mr. Croteau. 

BY MR. CROTEAU:

Q.
Mr. Bicamumpaka, regarding the document entitled "The MRND Interahamwe militia ransacks (sic) Ruhengeri préfecture", now, the first question I would like to put to you is as follows:  How did you come by this document? 

JUDGE MUTHOGA:

Mr. Croteau, could you start by asking him when, if ever, he ever came across this document; whether he has seen this there for the first time, or whether he had seen it before.  And then you can proceed to ask how it came to him, if it ever did. 

MR. CROTEAU:

Well, I will comply with your directions, Judge Muthoga. 

BY MR. CROTEAU: 

Q.
Mr. Bicamumpaka, is today the first time that you are seeing this document? 

A.
No, Counsel.  The first time that I saw this document was a few days following the events that occurred, the events that contained the document, that is, around the 21st of January 1993 ‑‑ in any case, before the end of the month of January in 1993, in Kigali.  I had my own copy which I had amongst my documents, but I have lost it.  I do not have it today, but I did have my own copy amongst my own documents. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Which date, did you say?  

THE WITNESS:

I did say that I saw this document for the first time before the 30th of January 1993.  That is less than a week after it was drafted.  

MADAM PRESIDENT:

What do you mean "before the 30th of January 1993"?  Could it be the 15th of January, the 1st of January, the 26th of January?  

THE WITNESS:

The document is dated 26th January 1993.  And it is referring to events that had occurred on the 22nd of January.  So it is talking about events that had taken place a few days before.  I can't tell you precisely the date on which I saw this document, but it must have been the days that came after the 26th of January, but before the 30th‑31st of January.  And I know the author of the document. 

BY MR. CROTEAU:

Q.
Who is, or are the authors of the document? 

A.
This document was written by more than one person.  Actually, what happened is that on the 22nd of January 1993, there was destruction and killings in various communes of Ruhengeri, and the victims were only MDR militants, but then there were also some Tutsis, that is the Bagogwe, who were not members of the MDR.  And this happened on the 22nd of January.  And some members of the MDR in that commune fled their commune to take refuge here and there.  Some of them came to Kigali, and it is when they came to Kigali, that is, the headquarters of the MDR, they were asked to write down what they noticed and observed in their respective communes, and that is when this document was prepared and circulated or disseminated to the public, whilst it was drafted, and this is how I came by a copy at this time.  

Those who drafted the document are a group of three to four people that had fled from Ruhengeri, and they even stayed away from their préfecture some three or four months before returning to their respective communes.  So they wrote down what they witnessed, and as they were writing down what they witnessed, we in the party, in the MDR party in Kigali, decided to send a delegation to the scene.  One to Nyamutera commune ‑‑ and Nyamutera is spelt N‑Y‑A‑N‑U‑T‑E‑R‑A (sic).  So there is a delegation that went to Nyamutera where there was lots of destruction.  Another delegation went to Gatonde commune ‑‑ G‑A‑T‑O‑N‑D‑E ‑‑ and yet another, that is, a third delegation, and I was a member of this third one, went to my commune, Ruhundo ‑‑ R‑U‑H‑O‑N‑D‑O.  

So we went to the scene, to gather additional information and cross‑check what was reported to us by those who had fled to Kigali.  And I must tell you, Madam President, that what we noticed was even more serious than what we (sic) had seen, because they had not been able to see everything, or witness everything that had been done.  Now, those who went to the scene later saw everything, and in my Ruhundo commune a member of my party had been killed.  And this person was the husband of a lady who was a conseiller for Remera secteur ‑‑ and Remera is spelt R‑E‑M‑E‑R‑A.  So the Remera secteur was an important secteur in my native commune, because it was in that secteur that you had the commune office, the court of the canton, and the main trading centre of the commune was in that secteur, because there were many shops there.  There were also schools in the secteur.  So that secteur was a strategic secteur in the commune, and the conseiller of that secteur was a lady who, before, used to be in the MRND party.  With my sensitisation she left the MRND and joined the MDR, and the reward she had was that on the 22nd of January 1993, her husband was killed by a policeman of the commune ‑‑ by a commune policeman.  So her husband was killed by a commune policeman within the context of these general happenings that had affected Ruhengeri as well as Gisenyi and other préfectures.  And the truth be told, this document it is not signed, and the date of the 26th of January 1993 that we find here is not only an addition to the document, but it is the date on which this document was prepared.  And this document was used by the three delegations that went down to the scenes of what had happened.  

So it is true, Madam President, that this document is not signed, but it is real and I know the authors thereof and I used it myself as my working document that I took along with me to Ruhundo to observe what had happened there. 

MS. ST‑LAURENT:

Any case, at this stage, Madam President, my objection still holds or still stands.  My objection still stands, Madam President, at this stage. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Just a minute.  Let the witness finish the answer.  

Yes, go on.  Go on, Mr. Bicamumpaka.  

BY MR. CROTEAU:

Q.
Mr. Bicamumpaka, before you carry on – 
MR. CROTEAU:

And if you would allow me, Madam President, I would like some clarification to be made.  

BY MR. CROTEAU:
Q.
Mr. Bicamumpaka, talking about the title and the contents of this document -- 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Just a minute.  

BY MR. CROTEAU:

Q.
Mr. Bicamumpaka, before you carry on ‑‑ 

MR. CROTEAU: 

And if you will allow me, Madam President, I would like some clarification to be made. 

BY MR. CROTEAU: 

Q.
Mr. Bicamumpaka, before you proceed.  Did the title and the contents of this document concern only the events that occurred in Ruhengeri préfecture? 

A.
Yes, Counsel.  The document only contains the events that took place in Ruhengeri préfecture, which is my native préfecture, from the 20th to the 22nd of January 1993.  But those events that occurred in Ruhengeri are part of a general context ‑‑ or, events that took place in other préfectures as well.  And the others are similarly ‑‑ they belonged to two political parties in Rwanda. 

Q.
Well, you ‑‑ 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

We are not getting a translation.  

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

Yes, Madam President, I was still waiting for him to make a full sentence so that I could understand what he is driving at.  Maybe he could repeat his question.  

MR. CROTEAU:

I will repeat. 

BY MR. CROTEAU:

Q.
Mr. Bicamumpaka, you said that the contents of this document only concern the events that occurred in Ruhengeri préfecture, and what I was telling you is that given that this Trial Chamber has made a ruling excluding the evidence in Ruhengeri, concerning ‑‑ insofar as Mr. Casimir Bizimungu is concerned, we would like to ask you why you want to tender this document for admission by the Trial Chamber, and what are the important aspects thereof? 

MS. ST‑LAURENT:

May I respond to what my learned friend has said, Madam President?  Do you grant me leave to do that?  Because you see this document concerns only the events in Ruhengeri.  My learned friend is presenting this document as if it concerns only Ruhengeri préfecture.  And yet, the contents that we have in the last page they concern only Ruhengeri ‑‑ well, it probably doesn't concern only Ruhengeri, but in the last paragraph of that page you see it concerns the MRND and other parties ‑‑ that it concerns the MRND.  Well, if we extrapolate that page, page 209 from the document, then I will let things go. 

MR. MORAN:

Your Honour, now I do have an objection.  This document is a political diatribe, under the tarnished decision on hearsay.  The proponent has to show the reliability of the information in that document, and Mr. Bicamumpaka has testified it was created by members of his political party to be used essentially for political purposes.  It is propaganda.  He has failed to show the reliability.  

JUDGE MUTHOGA:  

Mr. Croteau, do we have an English copy of this document?  

MR. CROTEAU:

We gave an English copy for the Trial Chamber during the last session, but I have an English copy that I can give to the Trial Chamber.  

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Is this an English copy that you have only, Mr. Croteau?

MR. CROTEAU:  

Yes, Madam President.

JUDGE SHORT:  

And Mr. Babajide, this document has a K‑number. 

MR. BABAJIDE: 

Yes, My Lords.  Indeed, yes. 

JUDGE SHORT: 

So it emanated from the Prosecution, right?

MR. BABAJIDE:

Well, it has come to our custody. 

JUDGE SHORT: 

It came into your custody? 

MR. BABAJIDE: 

Yes.  We must have it.  And I am sure it is one of our copies that they have used, but we do not know how they got it ‑‑ I am not sure whether we disclosed it.  

JUDGE SHORT: 

Okay.

MR. BABAJIDE: 

And while I'm on my feet, My Lords.  I think having listened to Mr. Moran, a legal issue has arisen here, that we are interested in.  Definitely this Court, and this Tribunal, can and has admitted hearsay evidence.  And as far as what my learned friend has said is concerned, that goes to the weight that can be attached to the document after it has been admitted.  It does not go to the admission of the document itself.  Thank you.  

MR. MORAN:

Your Honour, I think he's misstating what the Trial Chamber ‑‑ the tarnished Trial Chamber held; that is, the decision that has been used by both this Tribunal and the ICTY since 199 ‑‑ I think about ‘96, and it requires the proponent of hearsay evidence to show the reliability of what it's trying to bring in; the reliability of the information.  If it just goes to the weight, then there wouldn't be any reason to have the requirement of reliability as part of the test.  

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Yes, Mr. Bicamumpaka. 

THE WITNESS:

Thank you, Madam President.  I would like to say one thing for clarification purposes, following what Mr. Moran said.  And what he said is, he said this document was used for propaganda purposes.  I would like to say that is not true.  This document was produced by a group of members of the MDR, from Ruhengeri, who were fleeing the massacres that had been vested upon the people of that préfecture.  They fled to Kigali, and there were members of our party who accommodated them.  And we asked them to write down what they had witnessed.  This is, therefore, not for propaganda.  Once what was written was written, we decided to send delegations to these scenes in order for them to document the damages that had been done at the various scenes.  And we then undertook to sensitise the government to make sure that this should stop, so that the authors of those crimes should also be prosecuted.  This document was never meant to be used for propaganda purposes, and when it is said that the document is not signed ‑‑ and the truth be told it is not signed ‑‑ but I am sure that the original copy that was in Kigali was signed at some point.  But since at the time the idea was for us to protect our party members, it was done by that ‑‑ documents that were publicised should include the names of the people who wrote the document.  We did this merely in order to protect them.  But I am sure that in the records of the party, I am very certain that the signed documents would be in those records.  

But then, that said, I would like to say that we left Rwanda in July 1994 and all our documents remained in Rwanda.  I can't testify to the authenticity of these documents ‑‑ and, by the way, the contents thereof. (Inaudible) or what is said is I can testify to the authenticity of this document, and most of what is contained in this document.  I, myself, can testify to that because I was ‑‑ I went to down to the field.  I went down to the scene, I saw the damage caused and I saw the people killed.  And I spoke to certain members of the government, including Dismas Nsengiyaremye, in order to ask that they should be prosecuted.  And if there were no judicial proceedings instituted against the people, it's for various reasons, because on the 8th of February the RPF attacked Ruhengeri and Byumba and what became a matter of urgency at the time concerned ‑‑ or was to find the ways and means of bringing relief to the victims.  And I think this is what made investigations on the crimes of the 22nd of January not to be carried out anymore, because there was chaos at the time following the attack of the RPF.  So this document is ‑‑ you know, was followed up by investigations by missions that were sent down to the scenes, by the MDR.  I would also like to make it clear that Mr. Bizimungu, my co‑accused, is not mentioned in the document. 

MS. ST‑LAURENT:

No, but I see in the last paragraph that the MRND is being attacked; that is, the MRND and the CDR and the Interahamwe, which means that the findings of what we have in this document do concern us, Madam President, and I wonder if we should not take the break now, because it would make things clearer in peoples' minds -- everyone's minds.  

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Mr. Croteau, are you done with this document?  

MR. CROTEAU:

With regard to the objection during ‑‑ concerning the objection during the break, I would have a submission to make concerning Akayesu , Appeals Chamber, where in paragraph 286 quotation 505 it is said, "The test to be met before ruling evidence..."  I'm sorry.  My apologies, the computer is no longer working, so I can ‑‑ 

MS. ST‑LAURENT:

I know that his English is not better than mine.  

MR. CROTEAU:

"To make before ruling evidence admissible, is accordingly hide (sic) ‑‑ is accordingly hide (sic) (French spoken).  It must, firstly, be shown that the evidence is so lacking in terms of the indicia of reliability as to be devoid of any probative value."  

MADAM PRESIDENT:

We will take a short break now.  

We will resume after 15 minutes. 

(Court recessed from 1110H to 1150H) 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Session resumes.  

Mr. Croteau, do you want to make some more submissions regarding the objection raised by Madam St‑Laurent?  

MR. CROTEAU:

If it pleases the Court, yes, Madam President, Your Honours.  In addition to what was stated to this day, and at the stage of the proceedings on this document, the document has been identified as to its source and its use.  The document has also been identified regarding its authors and its contents in view of the use that was made of it by the witness.  

You will note that the content of this document is aimed at defending Bicamumpaka, who at the time was a member of the main opposition party, and who is charged with having participated in acts of violence in his commune of origin in the indictment, and because witnesses testified that they had seen him and had associated him with a number of persons.  So, it is not the political parties themselves that are targeted here, as was referred to by the witness, but specific individuals.  And that proof of it was that Nteziryayo, amongst other persons, was part of the Akazu.  And so Mr. Bicamumpaka must give proof of the personal actions he undertook, and, this, in order to disprove what he is being reproached with.  And the present document is a document that corroborates the evidence, and this in real time, because it deals with the period when the actions took place.  

So this is essential to Mr. Bicamumpaka.  Regarding the legal aspect of things Maître Larochelle, if he is authorised to take the floor, can mention the points of law on this element regarding the admissibility of evidence, the threshold or the standard which is to be taken into account when the Accused must respond to a charge that is brought against him.  I wish to give the floor to Counsel Larochelle and the case of Bagosora et al, and I am referring to Rule 89 of the statutes, Article 89 of the statutes where the Trial Chamber can deem admissible any element which permits the ascertainment of the truth.  If I am authorised to do so, I will give the floor to Counsel Larochelle to present the point of law related to the Bagosora case. 

MR. LAROCHELLE:  

Very, briefly, Your Honours, the decision in Bagosora on the 19th of March 2007 ‑‑ 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Let us find out from Madam St‑Laurent if she is still objecting. 

MS. ST‑LAURENT:

Yes, Madam President.  In view of the last two paragraphs, as I mentioned earlier on and following what my learned colleague said, the authors were not identified as far as we're concerned.  Perhaps with the Accused they were (inaudible).  And I have another argument I wish to submit.  The acts Mr. Bicamumpaka is charged with ‑‑ well, I am willing for him to defend himself regarding those, but I do not believe he is accused ‑‑ he stands accusation for the events of 1993. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Mr. Larochelle.

MR. LAROCHELLE:  

Thank you, Your Honours.  The test is very simple.  Is the document relevant?  We submit it is.  There is this allegation by the Prosecutor there is a vast conspiracy between the different political parties of Rwanda in which they united to fight against the Tutsis.  This demonstrates the exact opposite; namely, that the MDR and MRND were engaged in a bitter struggle between themselves rather than in a big alliance.  This goes to relevance.  And as to authenticity what we need to demonstrate is some indicia of reliability and I am taking this from the Bagosora decision of 19th March 2007 in paragraph 2.  Here, Mr. Bicamumpaka has identified the document.  He was a member of the MDR party, he knew when it was written.  He took cognizance of it at that moment, and he can speak to it.  So I suggest to you that these demonstrate ‑‑ that this constitutes enough in the sphere of reliability and I would like to add to that that you can find K‑numbers on that document, which indicate that they were actually within the Prosecutor's database ‑‑ which it has also been deemed reliable enough to be included in the Prosecutor's database.  

So, with your leave, those would be my submissions regarding the admissibility of that document under Article 89(C) of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence.  

Thank you.

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Thank you.  

Yes, Madam St‑Laurent.  Are you prepared to respond?  

MS. ST‑LAURENT:

I am done with my rebuttal.  Maybe Mr. Moran may have something else to say.  All that is relevant
to ‑‑ I think Mr. Bicamumpaka can testify to what he himself witnessed without having to refer to this document whose authors he does not know.  I think he can talk, for instance, on the (inaudible) in which case, we would not need the conclusions that we have on page 209, and we would not have any problem of tendering this document.  If Mr. Bicamumpaka knows of these events, he can give testimony of that without necessarily tendering this document into evidence.  

Madam President, as I have said, the conclusions are rather too general, and that is what I am referring to.  

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Thank you.  Mr. Moran. 

MR. MORAN:

Your Honours, just a couple of quick thoughts.  I do not know who the authors of these documents are.  I have no clue who they are.  Secondly, the fact that it has at some stage been in the Prosecutor's database, I don't know how the Prosecutor works in this Tribunal, but I work with investigators in other agencies and, basically, they are vacuum cleaners.  They pick up every piece of paper they can get their hands on and put it in the database.  The fact that it is in the Prosecutor's database doesn't make it any more or less reliable.  It is just that it is a document that in some point in history the Office of the Prosecutor scooped up and scanned and put in a database and stamped a page number on it.  

Your Honours, if -- you know, if this thing is to show Mr. Bicamumpaka's motives for doing what he eventually did, that may be one thing, but it is something quite different to say that this document which he says was prepared by a political party, and eventually released to the public with unknown authors, is sufficiently reliable to be admitted as evidence, and I don't think that there has been a showing, by Mr. Bicamumpaka, that this document is sufficiently reliable to meet the (inaudible) test. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Thank you.  We have considered the submissions made by the parties.  We are of the view that absence of the signature on the document does not preclude the document from its admissibility.  Having regard to the circumstances under which the document was prepared, as narrated by Bicamumpaka, we are satisfied that the document is relevant and admissible under Rule 89(C).

We have the translation of this document from Kinyarwanda into English, but that's not the official translation and so we ask the (inaudible) to approach the concerned quarters for the translation of this document.

It is not an official translation.  

Is it official?
Okay.  

MR. CROTEAU:

It is an official translation.  

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Thank you.  Mr. Tumati, please make copies for the Bench.  

Proceed, Mr. Croteau.  

MR. CROTEAU:

I am obliged, Madam President. 

BY MR. CROTEAU:  

Q.
Now, Mr. Bicamumpaka, you have that document with you and we are going to review it together in its various points.  

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Should we admit it and mark it as an exhibit right away or you want to admit it at the end?

MR. CROTEAU:

At the end, Madam President.  

BY MR. CROTEAU:

Q.
Now, Mr. Bicamumpaka, on Wednesday the 20th of January 1992, can you tell us of what happened in Gatonde commune? 

MR. MORAN:

Your Honour, I'll object to that.  There's a document that is going to be introduced into evidence that the Tribunal says is admissible.  If all he's going to do is read from it, the document speaks for itself.  If he has got actual knowledge, which is what the document called for, that is a different story.  But if all he is going to do is relate what is in the document, then the document would be the best evidence.  

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Mr. Moran, didn't the witness say that he visited the site after he learned of all of these?  

MR. MORAN:

Yes, Your Honour, and if he wants to base his testimony on that I have no problem of that.  He has personal knowledge of that.  I don't have any ‑‑ but the question seemed to call for what occurred there, not "What did you investigate?  What did you find?"  But just what occurred. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

The question is:  "Can you tell us what happened in Gatonde" ‑‑ 

Can you rephrase your question, Mr. Croteau? 

BY MR. CROTEAU:

Q.
My question was to find out ‑‑ was meant to find out which events occurred on Wednesday, 20th of January 1993 in Gatonde commune, Ruhengeri préfecture, and of what interest is this to you, Mr. Bicamumpaka? 

A.
Yes, Counsel, in the month of January 1993, and more specifically with effect from the 20th of that month, Gatonde commune as well as other communes in Ruhengeri préfecture were witness to serious criminal occurrences.  All of this began with an attack that was launched from the neighbouring communes of Gisenyi préfecture.  Gatonde shares the border with Gisenyi, and a group of people, some hundreds ‑‑ some ‑‑ a hundred of them came from Giciye commune ‑‑ that is G‑I‑C‑I‑Y‑I (sic), and from Karago ‑‑ K‑A‑R‑A‑G‑O.  These two communes are in Gisenyi préfecture and they are crucial communes for Rwanda, since the president, Habyarimana, was a native of Karago commune.  And most of the Rwandan leaders at the time, at least the most prominent of them that were members of Akazu also originated from those two communes.

So on the 20th of January 1993, some hundred people or so left Gisenyi and attacked Ruhengeri, and went straight ‑‑ they (inaudible) attacked the Gatonde commune and attacked members of the MDR party and destroyed the headquarters of the party in the commune and looted it, of course, 
burnt the ‑‑ all that the building contained.  They continued to attack members of the MDR, whose houses they destroyed.  And they proceeded to Nyamutera commune which is also close to Gatonde, even though it is in Ruhengeri préfecture.  

Now, this last commune is the one that suffered the most damage in the préfecture, since the members of the MDR party that went to visit the scene counted more than 65 houses belonging to members of the MDR party that had been destroyed and burnt down by the very persons who had come from Gisenyi.  But when they got to Gatonde, they were joined by the local members of the Interahamwe.  So it was like a plot that was hatched jointly, secretly, against members of the MDR by those people.  In Nyamutera commune not only did they destroy houses belonging to members of the MDR party, including the headquarters of the party in that commune, but they also assaulted certain members of the MDR party. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Yes, go on.  

THE WITNESS:

Thank you, Madam President.  I was saying that not only did they attack their opponents destroying their property, but they also destroyed the houses of the members of MDR in Nyamutera commune who sought to protect opponents that were being threatened.  Some houses belonged to those members of the MRND that wanted to protect MDR members were also destroyed, so they didn't want anybody to protect those who were being targeted.  

One thing we observed on the scene, and this was going to be replicated at other places on a wider scale in 1994, was that when a person was targeted and ‑‑ but was not found, his family members, his father, mother or brothers would be assaulted.  And I have given you ‑‑ I am going to give you some two or three examples in order to make things clearer.  There were some people who were working in Kigali and belonged to the MDR, and whose places were there.  There was one who was called Ntuyhe.  That is N‑K‑U ‑‑ N‑T‑U‑Y‑H‑E.  And he worked for the Central Bank of Rwanda, and we used to go together to the various communes during the weekend to sensitise the people on the policies of the MDR.  So those people went to his home, but he was not present because he was in Kigali, and so his mother and old lady was attacked, and the house was destroyed and all that there was therein.  There is another case of a senior Rwandan employee, a state employee, whose name is Alexander Manenero ‑‑ M‑A‑‑R‑‑ M‑A‑N‑E‑N‑E‑R‑O.  He was a senior official in the ministry of higher education and scientific research in Kigali.  And we also used to attend MRND rallies in Ruhengeri.  When he was not found on the spot physically, his mother was attacked.  His father had already died, and his house and all that it contained were destroyed.  In other words, the relatives, parents, the brothers and sisters of the person that was deemed to be a politician was punished ‑‑ if I can use the term ‑‑ even if the person was not found, even if the details of the political activities of the targeted person could not be given.  

I would also like to say that many people who had money were able to protect their property by giving money to those gangs of criminals that had come from Gisenyi.  What I mean is that the crimes that were perpetrated were various.  There were activities that targeted politicians, and the actions consisted in destroying their property and some of those politicians were even massacred and murdered on the spot.  And there were also acts of banditism, but banditism that had targeted politicians or the close relatives of those politicians.  Since ‑‑ if you paid 10,000, 15,000 francs or even a thousand francs you could save your property.  My opinion is that those massacres and the destructions in January 1993, perpetrated by members of MRND and people who came from Gisenyi, and from ‑‑ and from intelligence that we received it would appear that there were soldiers in active service who were part of those groups, in particular, soldiers who were members of the Presidential Guard.  But then they usually spotted civilian attires (sic).  I should point out that some members of the Presidential Guard were permanently posted in the private residence of President Habyarimana in the Karago commune, and Karago is one of the communes from which those gangs of criminals came.  So those massacres and the destruction began on the 20th of January 1993, and continued on the 21st and on the 22nd.  

The complicity and the conspiracy was so patent that nobody mentioned about these events over the national radio.  No préfectoral figurative authority in Ruhengeri or communal authority deplored those unfortunate events or condemned them, apart from some days later when we stood up and denounced them and when it was no longer possible to conceal the events.  The targets were all members of the MDR, and I'm talking about Ruhengeri in particular.  They were all members of the MDR.  There were a few citizens of Ruhengeri who did not belong to the MDR, but who were also targeted.  These were the few Tutsis of the Bagogwe extraction who were also targeted.  Some of them were killed.  I am not in a position to give you the figures, but it was some ‑‑ quite a high figure.  Some also fled just as many other people fled.  Some event went as far as taking refuge in the capital city, Kigali.  

I said a short while ago that my native commune, that is, Ruhundo, and in Ruhundo the bourgmestre was personally responsible for the death of a certain Rutumbo ‑‑ R‑U‑T‑U‑M‑B‑O.  That gentleman, Rutumbo, was the husband of a lady who was a member of the MDR party, and who was unfortunate to be the conseiller of ‑‑ in a secteur in that commune, that is, of Remera commune or secteur.  She was shot down by a communal policeman who was acting on the instructions of the bourgmestre.  It would appear that the bourgmestre had never accepted the fact that a local figure of authority, namely, a communal conseiller of such a strategic secteur should leave the MRND party to join an opposition party.  He thus wanted to give an example and show to the other conseillers who may be tempted to do the same thing what would happen to them, what would befall them if they left the MRND to join the other opposition party.  In January 1993, immediately after the signing of the last memorandum of understanding on the power sharing in Arusha, since there was nothing else to be negotiated regarding power sharing, some Rwandan politicians sought to resort to violence either to forestall the application of power sharing as agreed on, or in order to create a vacuum so that, in any case ‑‑ well, whatever the case, that everything should revert to those politicians who were in the circles of President Habyarimana.  

I will add one other thing.  I hope I am not misunderstood when I refer to the MRND.  The MRND is an important party, and I think it had as much weight as the MDR in the country.  And the only advantage that that party had was that it was more availed of financial and other resources than the MDR.  Now, not all of the members of the MRND perpetrated criminal acts.  There was a group of people who were, of course, members of the MRND and who were manipulating people ‑‑ many people ‑‑ of the party.  That was a group, as far as I was able to observe during all of those years, and from what ‑‑ from the criminal actions that were carried out did.  And what is more, the authorities wanted to seize the opportunity, probably in order not to lose their positions, and so followed that limited group of people in their criminal actions.  So ‑‑ and if you allow me, I will read out certain paragraphs from a document that would better illustrate what I've just said. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Yes, go on.  

THE WITNESS:

Madam President, I will refer you to page 204, paragraph 1, and I'm going to read it:  "A group of Interahamwe that were organised by the sous‑préfet of Busengo ‑- that is B‑U‑S‑E‑N‑G‑O ‑‑ Mr. Nzanana ‑‑ N‑Z‑A‑N‑A‑N‑A ‑‑ attacked Gatonde commune as a whole.  The local Interahamwe were supported by those who had come from Giciye commune ‑‑ G‑I‑C‑I‑Y‑E ‑‑ from where President Habyarimana's brothers‑in‑law came.  So far, two people have died and more than 15 houses have been destroyed."  

And now I will continue with the next paragraph which talks about Nyamutera communes ‑‑ and Nyamutera is spelt N‑Y‑A‑M‑U‑T‑E‑R‑A.  "An Interahamwe militia from Giciye and Karago, which are respectively the native communes of the president's brothers‑in‑law, and of the president himself, and from Kibilira ‑‑ K‑I‑B‑I‑L‑I‑R‑A ‑‑ was stationed at the Giciye bridge, at the border, of the Nyamutera‑Giciye communes." 

(Pages 15 to 30 by Eleanor Bastian)
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THE WITNESS (continued):
Now, Madam President, I will request that you move to the next paragraph, 205.  And here they are talking about the damage as on the 20th of January 1993; that is, the damage caused by the attacks from Gisenyi -- the people from Gisenyi and I will talk about ‑‑ I would read out things that will show you how serious things were:  "The MDR offices and its annexes has been completed destroyed and that pickaxes, stones, et cetera” – “have been completely destroyed with pickaxes, stones, et cetera.  This happened, whereas the bourgmestre was not far from there, just about 100 metres away, which suggests that the local official is the first accomplice.  
“The inspector of primary schools in Nyamutera commune, Benjamin, was threatened and gave 5,000 francs to save himself.  The house of Turikumwe, T‑U‑R‑I‑K‑U‑M‑W‑E, a young 
MDR activist (JDR), was destroyed.  The house of the mother of Mr. Alexandre Mamenero ‑‑ Mamenero being spelt M‑A‑M‑E‑N‑E‑R‑O ‑‑ a civil servant at the ministry of higher education and scientific research, was destroyed.  The house of Mrs. Nyirandegeya, N‑Y‑I‑R‑A‑N‑D‑E‑G‑E‑Y‑A, Katherine, mother of Mr. Ntuyehe, N‑T‑U‑Y‑E‑H‑E, Emmanuel, who is a departmental head at the national bank of Rwanda, was destroyed.  Mr. Ntuyehe's house was also looted before being partly destroyed.  There was an attempt to destroy the house of Mr. Gifobe, G‑I‑F‑O‑B‑E, father of Mr. Munyabarenzi, M‑U‑N‑Y‑A‑B‑A‑R‑E‑N‑Z‑I, Jean de Dieu, MDR chairman in the commune.  The old man had to give 500 francs to persuade them to leave.  Most of the Interahamwe were armed with grenades, spears, pickaxes, axes, and petrol to burn down houses.  Some of them carried guns, which had been provided through the Presidential Guard."
On page 206, at the top of the page, I wish to refer to a paragraph that mentions two people who were members of the MDR party and one was even a member of the secretariat ‑‑ the préfectoral secretariat at Ruhengeri.  He was a consultant by training, and he was at the head of one of the main consultancy firms in Kigali in Rwanda which was called la rwandaise.  The other one was a computer specialist who was working at the national bank of Rwanda.  

And this is what is said about these two people.  They are referring to the team of killers:  "The team broke into two groups.  Part of them went back in order to destroy and burn out what was remaining.  The other group went towards Marangara, M‑A‑R‑A‑N‑G‑A‑R‑A, to the families of Kanobana, K‑A‑N‑O‑B‑A‑N‑A, Antoin and Ntilivamunda, N‑T‑I‑L‑I‑V‑A‑M‑U‑N‑D‑A; Jean, director of la rwandaise consultancy firm and head of department at the national bank of Rwanda respectively.  There, the group was supposed to meet with another group which used the road in the Rugera secteur."  Rugera being spelt R‑U‑G‑E‑R‑A. 

The two persons mentioned were of course members of the MDR party.  If we turn to page 208, 
Madam President, at the top of the page I read what follows:  "Tension and fear are still raging in the region.  In summary, more than 65 houses have been destroyed or burnt down.  More than four people have been wounded and have died; fields of beans have been burnt; the Interahamwe have systematically looted, and more than 65 families are homeless.  Some of the families sought refuge at the commune and have been put up in the buildings of the IGA (rural literacy centre).  They are certainly without any assistance.  Others sought refuge at the neighbours' houses."  

Now, I wish to read out the three paragraphs that follow and those would be the last ones I read out:  "All these people have been abandoned because those who are supposed to help them have been held back in Kigali by the same MRND and its associate, the CTR, who closed the Kigali‑Ruhengeri road.  Moreover, MDR members who are natives of Ruhengeri and live in Kigali are still under serious threat.”  

And to add insult to injury, the Interahamwe had also molested a few MRND persons who wanted to remain human by helping their MDR neighbours who were under attack.  
“And at the bottom of the page, it is stated:  "It should be" ‑‑ "should be noted that all the communes were targeted:  Kidaho on the 22nd of January 1993; Ruhundo, 22nd of January 1993; 
Cyabingo, C‑Y‑A‑B‑I‑N‑G‑O, on the 25th of January 1993; 
Cyeru, C‑Y‑E‑R‑U, on the 25th of January 193; 
Nyakinama, N‑Y‑A‑K‑I‑N‑A‑M‑A, on the 22nd of January 1993; Nyarutovu, N‑Y‑A‑R‑U‑T‑O‑V‑U, on the 22nd of January 1993; Nyamugali, N‑Y‑A‑M‑U‑G‑A‑L‑I. This commune had been targeted by the Interahamwe for a long time to the extent that no MDR member has a house or property.  In the attack of the 22nd of January 1993, a total of 30 houses were burnt down and 35 families were left homeless."  

Madam President, as you will note, all the communes of Ruhengeri are not mentioned since there were 16 in total, but one has to admit that there was no commune in Ruhengeri that was not affected by this movement.  And, Madam President, I wish to recall that I have been charged with having personally participated in ceremonies with MRND members as early as 1992, notably in Gitarama.  One can understand that in such a context, such an accusation is invalid because it was not possible.  So, Counsel, this is what I can say on this document.  

BY MR. CROTEAU:

Q.
Now, Mr. Bicamumpaka, after these tragic and atrocious events against the MDR, were there new attacks by the RPF in Ruhengeri?  And if your answer is in the affirmative, when was that, and what were the consequences of such an attack? 

A.
Yes, Counsel.  It was during the night from the 7th to the 8th, so let us say on the 8th of February of 1993.  The RPF launched a large-scale attack which could not be compared to previous attacks.  And the target of this attack ‑‑ or the targets were the two communes that were bordering ‑‑ which were at the border with Uganda; that to say, Ruhengeri and Byumba.  And from what we heard on the radio, especially Radio Muhabura, which was the RPF radio ‑‑ Radio Muhabura being spelt M‑U‑H‑A‑B‑U‑R‑A. The RPF claimed that if it had initiated this attack in violation of the ceasefire of 12th of July 1992, it was because, according to it, the MRND and the CDR had attacked innocent civilians and that it was to punish them.  Those were the words that were used by the RPF in its official statement.  

It goes without saying that such a reason was unacceptable, since this attack led to the displacement of 1,200,000 people, and since there were more than 100,000 civilians who were murdered during that attack.  So it was a pretext that was found by the RPF in order to implement or make progress in their talk‑and‑fight policy I referred to yesterday.  

They had spent a number of months without fighting.  They had been able to re‑arm themselves, to equip themselves, had received assistance from Uganda and they wished to strike in order to broaden their hold on the territory and, if possible, take or seize the capital, Kigali.  

One can say that the result of this attack was indeed an extension of the area that was under their control.  Let me remind you that the area under the control of the RPF before June of 1992 covered seven communes of the Byumba commune and one commune only in the Ruhengeri préfecture, that is to say, Butero.  But after that attack, almost the totality of the Byumba préfecture was occupied, at least 80 per cent of the territory was under RPF control, so that most of the population of this area that was spared death, fled.  

Whereas, on the Ruhengeri side there was the Butero commune that was occupied by the RPF, and part of the Kidaho commune ‑‑ K‑I‑D‑A‑H‑O ‑‑ which was also occupied.  So in Ruhengeri there was strong resistance from the Rwandan army which put an end to the advance of the RPF at the very beginning of the fighting, which was not the case in the Byumba préfecture.  So there was an attack under false pretext which led to extremely serious consequences for Rwanda. 

Q.
To conclude on this matter, the attack, can you tell the Trial Chamber what were the consequences for refugees, if you could specify their number, and tell us towards which areas they went?  When I'm using the term "refugee", I am of course referring to the people who were forced to leave their houses in the communes you referred to.  

A.
Yes, Counsel.  According to the terminology used by the UNHCR, a refugee is a person who leaves country and goes beyond the borders of his or her country.  So in Rwanda we rather talk about displaced countries rather than refugees since they remained within the borders of the country, even though they have left ‑‑ they had left their places of residence.
I testified yesterday that I had conducted a mission for the United Nations Development Programme in September and October of 1992, and that in the conduct of that mission I had been compelled to organise visits in the field and I had visited around 40 displaced persons' camps.  I interviewed hundreds of people who had been displaced and as well as NGO leaders who were providing assistance to these persons, as well as some local officials.  At the time, in my team, we had estimated the number of people who had been displaced because of the war because the donors were concerned that part of the humanitarian assistance that was destined to the displaced persons was being used for other purposes.  I am referring to foodstuffs such as beans, milk, flour, and so on and so forth.  The fear was that some of those products never reached the displaced persons. 

So we tried to conduct an operational audit to determine whether indeed the foodstuffs did not reach the normal destination and see to what extent this was done.  There was also another way of doing this which to increase ‑‑ artificially increase the number of displaced persons in a camp.  For example, if there were 5,000 people, they would say that there were 6,000 people and as a consequence more assistance would be provided. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Slow down.  

THE WITNESS: 

Thank you, Madam President.  

So if, for example, there was a camp where there were 5,000 people but that it was stated that there were 6,000, that would be 1,000 people more and the camp would receive assistance for 6,000 people.  In other words, whatever was provided for the additional 1,000 people would end up in the hands of some camp officials or other officials.  So we were asked to estimate their numbers to try to uncover the mode of operation, and to also assess the levels of losses and the possible solutions to this problem.  

Our recommendations were implemented since this led to an increased effectiveness of this programme when the figure went from 354,000 people to 1,200,000 people in February of 1993.  The number of refugees was ‑‑ multiplied by four almost; at least by three, and this led to intractable problems for the Rwandan government since stocks in Kigali were insufficient and that as a consequence it was necessary to purchase consumer goods as a matter of emergency from abroad, transport them to Kampala in Uganda, and we had leased a cargo plane that flew between Kampala and Kigali with oil, flour, and other basic foodstuffs that were indispensable for the survival of the 1,200,000 displaced persons.  Rwanda was assisted by a group of donors and this group of donors was coordinated by the UNDP.  If I counted them corrected, there were 25 such donor ‑‑ donors at the time.  There were governments, there were international organisations such as UNICEF, such as Caritas, the ICRC, there were a number of organisations.  And that is how we were able to meet the emergency needs of these populations.  

But what I can say is that we were never able to solve the problem entirely because the assistance provided was insufficient.  Children were undernourished.  The situation was disastrous.  I had a colleague in my consultancy team.  When we went to camp in May, he cried; he could not help himself.  When we visited a camp of displaced persons, one of my colleagues, a consultant, broke down because the situation was very serious.  I saw children suffering from conjunctivitis, people who were famished and who had lost weight.  This man broke down and cried.  We spent a few hours without working because we had to help him calm down and get used to what he was seeing before we were able to work.  So the situation was disastrous.  

In order to answer your question on the direction in which the refugees went ‑‑ 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

You are too fast for the translator ‑‑ the poor translator.  

THE WITNESS:
Yes, thank you, Madam President.  I shall make an effort.  I promise I shall do so.  

So to conclude, I was saying that the displaced persons ‑‑ 

JUDGE MUTHOGA: 

Keep your eyes on my hand.  When you see it going this way it means you are going too fast; slow down. 

THE WITNESS: 

Thank you, Judge Muthoga.  Thank you very much.  

So I was saying that the camps that I had visited in October of 1992 were totaling four ‑‑ 45.  The largest of them accommodated from 40 to 43,000 people.  The smallest housed 500 people and was in the location of Ruhengeri because that was the location where there were less displaced persons.  

In February of 1993, all these camps were emptied.  Those who did not die fled.  So the camps were moved from Byumba and Ruhengeri to the préfecture of Kigali‑rural, and even in two communes of Gitarama préfecture in the town of Kigali itself and in the remaining part of the Byumba préfecture which had not yet been occupied by the RPF, and of course, in Ruhengeri where there was only one commune and a half that was occupied, and that was in February, March of 1993.  So one has to understand that when people are moving like that they leave everything on site since there is shelling going on and they do not have time to bring any possessions with them.  

What is even more serious is that the humanitarian NGOs had offices as well as stocks.  And when they fled everything remained in the buildings of their offices so that the RPF would seize drugs, foodstuffs, as well as many other things, and even vehicles.  So all this was looted by the RPF, which means that the humanitarians NGOs had to find new vehicles, had to renew their stocks, had to find new pieces of equipment in order to provide assistance to the displaced persons whose number had been multiplied by four.  So one can imagine the dire situation in which these persons were.  

BY MR. CROTEAU:

Q.
One last question for this morning.  

MADAM PRESIDENT:

It's almost one o'clock.

MR. CROTEAU:
If I may, Madam President, and then we can adjourn.  

BY MR. CROTEAU:

Q.
Mr. Bicamumpaka, you referred to the situation regarding the displaced persons.  My last question for this morning is as follows:  What was the new location where the displaced person settled without any food, which they had left behind, without any drugs, which they had left behind?  What was the impact of the arrival of these displaced persons on the population living in the new locations they moved to? 

A.
Perhaps I can better answer your question by giving you the example of the Nyacyonga camp ‑‑ N‑Y‑A‑C‑Y‑O‑N‑G‑A. Nyacyonga was a centre located at a distance of around 13 kilometres from Kigali, on the road from Kigali to Byumba, the tarred road linking Kigali to Byumba.  And in this movement of displaced persons, a group stopped at Nyacyonga.  I do not know the precise figure, but they were not less than 40 or 50,000.  But since during the first days after their arrival in Nyacyonga they had no assistance, there was no infrastructure to provide any kind of assistance to them in Nyacyonga ‑‑ the humanitarians organisations that were providing assistance to them prior to that fact had been completely disorganised or destroyed.  It was necessary to set up a new structure so that during the first four weeks they were distraught, they were left to their own devices, living on a day‑to‑day basis, and many of them were seen wandering in Kigali on foot.  They would go from house to house begging and asking for assistance to anyone that would come their way, and people would give them what they could.  

The health condition of these people was quite serious.  First of all, they were filthy because there was no water.  Some of them were almost naked.  Many of them were suffering from skin diseases, eye diseases, conjunctivitis, and so on and so forth.  So this was exactly the contrary of what one might see in a capital city such as Kigali where generally people are well‑dressed and clean, et cetera. 

There was one other aspect which is quite difficult to understand for a non‑Rwandan:  That population came from the northern part of the country, from Byumba, the Abakiga, as they were called, B‑A‑K‑I‑G‑A, Bakiga or northerner.  They were not always warmly welcomed in the town.  I should even say that they were not welcomed at all because in Kigali the majority of the population hailed from the centre of the country or the southern part of the country since they are more numerous.  And the fact of seeing these people half‑naked, begging, led to a situation where some would give them food but would insult them at the same time and say that they were filthy and looked like savages.  So there was some scorn vis‑à‑vis these persons.  So this is something I was an eyewitness to.  So this scorn also has ‑‑ had a negative impact.  The northerners who lived in Kigali who witnessed such things were affected by it, especially those who were coming from Byumba specifically.  

I believe this led to more regionalism in Rwanda because the war was now not a matter for all Rwandans, but only a problem for northerners only.  So that was what was being said in Kigali, and that was what people were saying perhaps innocently, without wishing for that to happen.  But, for example, someone hailing from Gitarama who would receive a group of displaced persons and would chase them telling ‑‑ saying that they were dirty, when a person who hailed from Byumba would witness such a scene, he would think, "Well, they are distraught.  If that person has nothing to give them, at least it should be done in a polite manner."  So reactions could be unpredictable.  

And in April of 1994 in Rwanda, contrary to what was said, the people who died were sometimes killed because of their ethnicity, sometimes because of their region of origin, others were killed because they had property and people wanted to take that property from them.  There are many reasons why people were killed in April of 1994.  

So the 1,200,000 displaced persons who were abandoned led to a situation, the result of which is known to us, to which we must add, of course, provocation such as the assassination of the president of the republic and murders and every ‑‑ all the elements were there for the country to break down and this is effectively what happened.  

MR. CROTEAU: 

I propose that we adjourn for lunch at this stage.  

MS. ST‑LAURENT: 

Yes, indeed, Madam President, could we resume at 20 minutes to 3 since we have gone ten minutes beyond the time?  

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Judge Muthoga agrees with you.  We resume at 20 to 3.  

(Court recessed from 1308H to 1454H) 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Session's resumed. 

Mr. Croteau, please continue.  

MR. CROTEAU: 

Thank you, Madam President.  

BY MR. CROTEAU:

Q.
Now, Mr. Bicamumpaka, when we left off this morning we were talking about two events, either the minutes of the MDR party of the 26th of January of 1993 out ‑‑ itemising certain outrages of the RPF attack of the 8th of February 1993.  

Now, following on the events in your home préfecture of Ruhengeri between the 20th of January and the 26th of January 1993, did your party do anything following those events?  Did you make ‑‑ lodge an official complaint?  What sort of following up was there?  Was there any concrete action on your part? 

A.
Yes, Counsel.  We did take action, which consisted of demanding that the government undertake criminal investigations and prosecute those responsible for the outrages.  However, unfortunately, as I said before, the government was in such a situation that no investigation could be undertaken.  That's my personal perception; I might be wrong, of course.  But less than two weeks after those outrages, the RPF attacked violating yet again the ceasefire, and this time it was on a larger scale and practically affected both northern préfectures of the country, Ruhengeri and Byumba.  

The consequences of that attack were in such a scale that the government could only try and solve the humanitarian problem, the internally displaced by the war, and also there had to be a ceasefire.  The fighting had to stop, and it took about three weeks for the positions to stabilise and we returned to a ceasefire so that negotiations might resume.  In other words, to my knowledge, there was no investigation as regard the outrages in Ruhengeri, or any other préfecture in Rwanda in 1993.  But we did demand investigations.  And from my point of view, we could hardly do more. 

MR. CROTEAU: 

Now, Madam President, I refer you to bundle C, document 15, at page 210.  

BY MR. CROTEAU:

Q.
Would you like to look at that, Mr. Bicamumpaka?  Communiqué number 5 from the 

5th of February 1993.  And I need your help because it's in Kinyarwanda.  What is the ‑‑ in what way is this communiqué interesting or significant? 

A.
This communiqué, which is only one page long, is dated the 5th of February 1993.  That is to say just a few days before the RPF's attack, but about ten days after the outrages to which our party members were submitted in various préfectures of Rwanda, inter alia, Ruhengeri.  I would like to make it clear that this communiqué was issued by the MDR branch in Kigali préfecture.  So it is not a communiqué by the national party's executive committee ‑‑ or the national executive committee, nor is it a Ruhengeri section communiqué ‑‑ 

JUDGE MUTHOGA: 

Mr. Croteau, what page on bundle C?  

MR. CROTEAU: 

Two‑one‑zero, 210. 

JUDGE MUTHOGA: 

Thank you.  

MS. ST‑LAURENT: 

Itangazo number 5 is the title ‑‑ 

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

Points out, Counsel Laurent.  

MS. ST‑LAURENT:
‑‑ in the top left‑hand corner.

THE WITNESS: 

This communiqué shows how in the MDR party we supported each other.  We had 11 branches or 11 sections, 11 préfectoral committees, but as soon as one branch was affected, the other branches mobilised to give their support or the national executive committee, the national steering committee of the party would react.  

If you like, I can read this communiqué, which is not long, because it perfectly reflects what I saw on the ground in Ruhengeri in 1993 and support the document of the 26th of January we saw a while back, 26th of January of the same year, on practically all points.  I would read it if you would allow.  So I'll read in Kinyarwanda.  

Is the Kinyarwanda booth ready to interpret?  

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Kinyarwanda booth, are you ready?  

MR. CROTEAU: 

Madam President ‑‑ 

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

The Kinyarwanda booth is asking for a copy of the document.  If ‑‑ 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

The registrar informs me that there is an English trans ‑‑ official English translation of this document.  Those are French.  

MR. CROTEAU: 

That is correct.  That is correct, Madam President, so we can follow in all three languages.  

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

Counsel St‑Laurent says she does not have the French. 

MS. ST‑LAURENT:
We have no French translation, Madam President.  You are really spoilt in that translations in all languages -- show me the French translation, please, so that I might follow in the French translation.  
MADAM PRESIDENT:

This is the French translation.  Give it to Madam St‑Laurent.  

Yes, Mr. Babajide, you wanted to say something?  

MR. BABAJIDE: 

Well, in the spirit of equality of arms, if we can also get the English.  Thank you, Madam President.  

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

If anybody is providing this document, I don't think the English booth has it.  

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Can you wait for a while, Mr. Bicamumpaka?  Mr. Tumati has gone to make copies of the English version for the interpreters and for the Judges.  

THE WITNESS: 

May I start reading?  

JUDGE MUTHOGA: 

Wait for us ‑‑ wait for us to get the copies.  

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Kinyarwanda booth, do you have the Kinyarwanda version before you?

MS. ST‑LAURENT:
(Microphone not activated)  

MADAM PRESIDENT:

We can't hear you.  

MS. ST‑LAURENT:
Madam President, can you lend us your French version so that we can give what we have to the English ‑‑ to the Kinyarwanda booth?  

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Okay, thank you.  

MS. ST‑LAURENT: 

So you lend me your French version, and I will hand over the Kinyarwanda draft that I have to the Kinyarwanda booth.  Is that okay?  

MADAM PRESIDENT:

I think I did lend it to you.  You have it.  

JUDGE MUTHOGA: 

The French copy came to you.  That is French?  

MS. ST‑LAURENT: 

Yes, you are right.  I have the French version that you gave me and I have lent you the Kinyarwanda version that I had against your French version ‑‑ 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Okay, thank you.  

MS. ST‑LAURENT: 

‑‑ because Mr. Bicamumpaka will be reading the document in Kinyarwanda.  

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Give this to the Kinyarwanda booth.  

MS. ST‑LAURENT: 

I would like the interpreters to be able to return to me the Kinyarwanda copy that I've just sent to them.  Would that be okay?  And I will return the French copy that I have with me here to Madam President.  

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Thank you.  

MS. ST‑LAURENT: 

I'm obliged, Madam President.  

MADAM PRESIDENT:

I'm not as (unintelligible) as you are.  You are asking for the Kinyarwanda copy back.  

The Kinyarwanda booth, are you ‑‑ you are able to translate?  

THE KINYARWANDA INTERPRETER:
We didn't hear the complete sentence, Your Honour.  

MADAM PRESIDENT:
Can the witness go ahead with the reading the document?

THE KINYARWANDA INTERPRETER: 
Yes, now we have a copy, Your Honour.  

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Okay, Mr. Bicamumpaka, please continue.  

THE WITNESS: 

Thank you, Madam President.  

I would like to start by making it clear particularly to those in the Kinyarwanda booth, that the portion that I'm going to read, because I'm not going to read the entire document ‑‑ I would not read the entire communiqué.  I would read the two initial paragraphs in the first chapter that is under point 1, as well as the paragraph of the second chapter that is entitled ‑‑

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:
And he used a Kinyarwanda expression.  

THE WITNESS:
I'm going to start now:  "MDR Kigali, press release number 5; Bashiru criminal plans have aborted.  They tried to capture Ruhengeri using dry banana leaves.  It was at a meeting ‑‑ it was at a meeting which brought together all Bashiru ‑‑

MS. ST‑LAURENT:
There is a translation that is not properly done into French.  

THE WITNESS: 

"It was at a meeting which brought together all Bashiru at Habyarimana's home in Karago that plans were hatched to carry out massacres and looting.  The meeting adopted the following criminal plans" ‑‑ 
I think the interpreters are going faster than myself.  I think we should try to go in lock step with the Kinyarwanda booth so that the translation is properly done.  So, may I proceed?

MS. ST‑LAURENT:

Madam President, when I listen with my colleague ‑‑ well, I have an official translation in French and we have problems there.  

THE WITNESS: 

May I continue with point number 1?  "To make Ruhengeri people understand that even though Zigiranyirazo and Nzabagerageza were no longer their leaders, Ruhengeri remains a private preserve of the Bashiru.  This was allegedly proposed by Zigiranyirazo and Nzabagerageza, who also suggested that attacks should be launched against Ruhengeri préfecture.  

"After taking over Ruhengeri, the Bashiru would then invade Byumba préfecture luring the internally displaced people with money and food in a bid to use them in the devastation of this préfecture.  However, problems could arise with the Buganza subregion of Byumba whose people might not rally sufficiently to the cause since virtually all these Baganza are supposedly Tutsi."  

Now, I will invite the interpreters to move on to chapter 2 entitled ‑‑ 

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

And he used a Kinyarwanda expression.  

THE WITNESS: 

And I will start reading that paragraph.  Can everyone move on to point number 2, "What was the turn of events."  Point number 2:  "What was the turn of events?  The Interahamwe and CDR members launched attacks in Gisenyi and Ruhengeri préfecture.  They destroyed the homes of Tutsis and those of the MDR, PL, PSD, PDC and PDI.  These attacks by the Interahamwe and CDR assailants were halted at Nyamutera in Ruhengeri, Rutsiro (phonetic) in Kibuye, and Bulinga in Gitarama.  That is how their plans aborted.  

"You heard on the radio that Ikinyani (phonetic) had gone to visit people displaced from their property by Interahamwe and CDR members in Nyamutera, Rutsiro and Ngororero (phonetic).  The actual truth is that Ikanyani Habyarimana had gone to check the progress of the bloodbath his killer troops were assigned to carry out against Tutsis and all those who are not members of MRND and CDR parties.  The fact is that since he stepped down as commander in chief of the national army, he has become the commander in chief of Interahamwe.  He is currently trying with the Interahamwe to get ablaze the subregions of Kigali, namely Gikoro, Bicumbi, Shyorongi, Bumbogo and Buliza in the hope that this will compensate for the defeat they sustained in Ruhengeri, Kibuye and Gitarama.  This is an illusion."  

Madam President, Your Honours, this communiqué corroborates the documents that we examined a short while ago, that is the document of the 26th of January 1993.  This was a response on the part of the MDR section in Kigali town.  And by this communiqué, the authors of the said communiqué are denouncing the outrages and the massacres visited on the members of the political opposition, including in their majority, the MDR as victims.  This was happening in other préfectures of Rwanda, including Kibuye, Gitarama and Kigali‑rural.  

At more than -- in the documents that we read earlier on, President Habyarimana is specifically targeted here.  And it is also said that this Bashiru ‑‑ and this is a national region of Rwanda which incorporated two communes; that is the commune I mentioned a while ago, that is Karago and Giciye, and these are the two communes that I mentioned this morning.  

In this communiqué, they are pleased to note that the massacres were ended ‑‑ or were aborted and that they couldn't continue in other parts of the country.  And the communiqué also said that the Tutsis were also targeted and that they were seen as political opponents, in particular, the MDR. So this communiqué was produced in Ruhengeri two to three days before the RPF attack.  So this is what I have to say about the communiqué.  

BY MR. CROTEAU:

Q.
Still regarding that same document, when we read the names, Zigiranyirazo and Nzabagerageza, who are these gentlemen? 

A.
Zigiranyirazo is one of the brothers‑in‑law of former President Juvènal Habyarimana.  In fact, he was the brother of the president's wife, and for a long time was the préfet of Ruhengeri préfecture.  As for Nzabagerageza, he was a veterinary doctor by training.  He is, if I do remember well, the cousin of President Habyarimana's wife, and he is the one who had replaced Protais Zigiranyirazo as the préfet of Ruhengeri.  And I think this demonstrates what is I said yesterday, I believe, according to which the Ruhengeri préfecture had been the victim of the Akazu and that one of the signs that illustrates this is the fact that the préfets that came after one another were all members of the Akazu; that is, those who succeeded each other as préfet of the préfecture. 

Q.
Thank you.  My next question will be the following:  In spite of the obstacles that you have just talked about, can you tell us whether the MDR continued to strive at implementing the provisions of the broad‑based transition government agreement?  And if that were the case, what were the achievements in that respect? 

A.
After January 1993 ‑‑ we had not yet concluded the negotiations ‑‑ the Arusha peace negotiations.  What had just happened ‑‑ and the ‑‑ after that the violation of the ceasefire by the RPF in 

February 1993.  All of this showed that the agreements that had already been signed were being threatened.  So everything had to be done in order to stabilise the situation and to resume political dialogue in a bid to safeguard both the peace process, and the negotiations for the democratisation of the political system in Rwanda.  
You'll see that ‑‑ you've seen that the MDR condemned the outrages in January 1993.  And the same party condemned the violation of the ceasefire by the RPF, as well as the crimes that were inherent in the violation, since this was an attack that had no just cause.  I do remember that in the party ‑‑ because this attack took place in the night of the 7th to the 8th, and the 7th being a Sunday, the 9th on its part was a Tuesday and we convened a political bureau meeting as a matter of urgency, and I participated at that meeting.  We tried to consider the situation, and we condemned in strong terms the RPF attack and demanded that hostilities should be ended and that we resume the political peace process.  

There was a communiqué that was issued at the time.  And I even remember that the MDR was the first party to condemn the attack.  And it was followed by the MRND in this condemnation.  

Now, in condemning the action through a communiqué, our leaders also tried to carry out diplomatic contacts with certain embassies in Kigali, and I would mention in particular the embassy of the 

United States of America, of France, and of Belgium.  These countries were involved in the Arusha peace process and we were demanding that pressure be brought to bear on the RPF that had resumed hostilities so that combats should stop and for negotiations to resume.  And, as a matter of fact, the fighting stopped on the one hand following the political pressure, as well as because the ‑‑ because France had threatened the RPF with stopping the fighting militarily if it did not stop the fighting on its own volition.  And because of all this pressure, the RPF was compelled to stop the fighting and talks resumed.  

But before the negotiations resumed in Arusha, the political parties and the RPF had to start by meeting in Bujumbura.  So it is ‑‑ it was a whole process that was followed and which culminated with the resumption of negotiations in Arusha, I believe in March 1993.  

So the MDR spared no effort at striving for peace and for restoring peace, and for resuming negotiations which subsequently culminated with the signing of the peace agreement in August 1993.  

Q.
Before achieving the signing of the agreement in August 1993, can you tell us immediately after March, that is, on 4th of April 1993, did the political bureau of the MDR take any significant action in order to participate in the negotiations and to ensure the implementation of the broad‑based transition government's provisions? 

A.
Yes, I did say that a short while ago about what was said about for the negotiations to resume in Arusha.  And, indeed, they did resume, if I remember well, in March‑ending 1993.  

So, at that stage, we had already signed the memorandum of understanding relating to power‑sharing and there were other important items on the agenda that were still outstanding, including in particular the composition of the future Rwandan army.  It was felt within the MDR party that if everyone put their hands on desk, it wouldn't take more than two or three months to conclude the peace negotiations.  

And on the 4th of April 1993, as you rightly pointed out, the political bureau took its decision as to its candidate for the position of prime minister in the government that would have been the outcome of the peace process in Arusha; that is, the government of the broad‑based transition government.  And this candidate that was chosen by the party was Dismas Nsengiyaremye.  And this is the very one who was prime minister of the previous transitional government.  We chose him on the 3rd of April, but it wasn't until the 10th of June of that same year that a letter from the steering committee of the MDR was sent to President Habyarimana in order to inform him of the choice of their candidate.  

The reason for writing that letter lay in the fact that in the memorandum of understanding relating to power‑sharing that was signed on the 30th of October of the previous year, it was said in that memorandum of understanding (unintelligible) that the would‑be prime minister of the broad‑based transition government had to be known or recognised by the two parties prior to the signing of the peace agreement. 
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THE WITNESS (continued):

What this means is that it was incumbent on the MDR party to give the name of its candidate to those two parties before the agreements or accords were finalised so that the two parties should agree whether they accepted that candidate as prime minister or not.  

BY MR. CROTEAU:

Q.
Mr. Bicamumpaka, who were those two parties you are referring to, and who had to be notified of the candidates for the broad‑based transitional government?  Who were the two parties?  

A.
These were the two parties that were on the negotiating table ‑‑ negotiation table in Arusha; that is, on the one side, you had the Rwandan patriotic front, and, on the other hand, the Rwandan transitional government that was headed by Dismas Nsengiyaremye.  And the letter in question, originating from the MDR, was addressed respectively to President Habyarimana of Rwanda, and the head of state, and to the president of the RPF, that is, the representatives of the two parties that were on the negotiation table. 

Q.
And what became of the letter?  

A.
What happened is that the MDR submitted the identity of its candidate to the two parties.  What happened thereafter is that things precipitated and the party, that is, the MDR, was being fought routinely to the extent that it had to withdraw from the transitional government.  In a few words, in a nutshell, on the 10th of June 1993, the party sent a letter to the two parties to the negotiations, and then on 11th of June 1993 a cabinet meeting was held in Kigali.  And from what I was able to learn later, it would appear that some members of the government criticised the prime minister, Nsengiyaremye, for not having given to that same government the name of -- his name as candidate for the broad‑based transitional government for consideration.  It would appear that Nsengiyaremye's answer to them was to the effect that, according to article 51 of the protocol agreement relating to power sharing signed on the 31st of October 1992, it was demonstrated that consideration of the candidate will be done by the two parties to the negotiations, and this will be done together in Arusha and not in Kigali.  

That's how things ended.  But, in any case, Habyarimana, since he was the author of the trap that he had set for his prime minister, it would appear that he was not present in the cabinet meeting.  So the cabinet meeting was chaired by the prime minister. The following day, that is, on the 12th of June, Nsengiyaremye had to go to Europe on official mission.  So he left and went as planned.  And four days later, that is, on the 16th of June, the political party leaders, that is, the political leaders of the MRND, the MDR and the PSD, signed a joint communiqué in which they were publicly denouncing Minister Nsengiyaremye, who was not in the country, and were accusing him of having sent his name as candidate to Arusha without informing the government.  

Q.
Mr. Bicamumpaka, let's backtrack a bit.  On the 16th of April 1993 ‑‑ the 16th of April 1993, is it a significant date as regards the legality of the Dismas Nsengiyaremye government?  And can you elaborate on what happened to the government? 

A.
I don't know if I correctly understood your question, Counsel.  

Q.
Let me try again.  Can you tell us what was the original ‑‑ the duration, the term of office of the Nsengiyaremye government? 

A.
So, on the 16th of April 1993?  

Q.
Yes, that is correct.  

A.
Now, the government had been given a term of office of one year, 12 months precisely.  It had started on the 16th of April 1992 and was due to end its term of office on the 16th of April 1993.  And on that day, the five parties of the government coalition met and noted that the government had made efforts but had not fulfilled its mission in toto. And it was decided to extend its term of office for three months, hoping that the three months would be sufficient to negotiate the peace.  

So the government's life was extended for three months and its mandate was due to expire on the 16th of July 1993.  And it was in that interval of three months that the ‑‑ what I have been describing in regard to Nsengiyaremye, Dismas's candidacy, and which seemed to be rejected by some quarters.  

Q.
As a result of the extension of the government's mandate did the Arusha negotiations continue and was agreement reached? 

A.
Yes, the negotiations continued, but as it was a specific and very delicate problem regarding the future Rwandan army, which was supposed to incorporate elements of standing Rwandan army as well as elements of the RPF, the discussions were arduous.  

I should like to make it clear, moreover, that President Habyarimana had to call back Boniface Ngulinzira, who represented him at Arusha, and replaced him by James Gasana, who was, at the time, minister of defence, and it was the latter, then, who represented Rwanda in Arusha on military questions.  That is just to show how sensitive it was, especially if we go back to what we saw this morning regarding the military state of mind at the time.  

Q.
On the 9th of June 1993, was a protocol signed in the context of the Arusha Accords, and, if so, which one?  

A.
On the 9th of June the negotiations continued.  A while back I referred to military matters, but there was also the question of the Rwandan refugees and their return to Rwanda; and there was a protocol on that matter and it was signed on the date you have just mentioned and it involved both the return to Rwanda of Rwandan refugees, and the return to their homes of the internally displaced by the war.  And that was what was signed on the 6th of June 1993.  

Q.
Continuing its line of action, the MDR, on the 11th of June 1993, did it encounter immense difficulties in operating, and, if so, how and by whom?  How was the MDR adversely affected ‑‑ hindered in its operations on that date? 

A.
If I correctly understood your question, on the 11th of June, what happened was that certain members of the government accused the prime minister, Dismas Nsengiyaremye, who as an MDR member had put in his own candidacy to be prime minister of the future government without informing the government, and he denied that accusation, referring to the protocols that had already been signed, where it is said that assessment of the candidacies to that position had to be done by the parties to the negotiations together and not separately.  And he asked ‑‑ well, I don't know, I wasn't present at the council of ministers, not being a minister, but it is said that he asked the other members of the government, who seemed to be in conflict, that if they had any complaints regarding his candidacy, they should inform both parties thereof and all that should be considered in Arusha.  The matter wasn't settled at that council of ministers, as Dismas Nsengiyaremye left the next day on mission to Europe.

As regards the MDR, there was not any particular difficulty on the 11th of June, but because -- that began on the 16th of June because the parties who were associated with the MDR in the FDC -- which is FDC, democratic forces for change -- the other parties should have raised it in that FDC, rather than in the government.  That's when we started to have difficulties, because we did not understand the brutal change in the conduct of our partners.  

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

There were three parties in the FDC, if the interpreter understood correctly.  

BY MR. CROTEAU:

Q.
At that stage, who were the people in conflict with the prime minister, Dismas Nsengiyaremye? 

A.
Well, first and foremost, Habyarimana, the president.  Since I told you that the MDR had sent him a letter in his capacity as head of state and in the application of article 51 of the protocol of the 31st of October 1992, and the head of state, instead of discussing it with his prime minister, Dismas Nsengiyaremye, or with the RPF, asked his ministers who had not been copied ‑‑ given a copy of the letter.  So I think the president was Dismas Nsengiyaremye's main detractor.  And it was the MRND members of the government who raised the problem in the council of ministers, because the prime minister ‑‑ the president was absent, from what I have heard.  

And there was peculiar behaviour on the part of party leaders, especially the PL and the PSD, but they were deeply divided from what I heard.  It would appear that in the PL ‑‑ one member of the PL was against Dismas, whereas another one supported him; and, similarly, for the PSD, one was against the prime minister, while other people supported him.  

What I can tell you is that after the 11th of June 1993, I would say, in answer to your question as to the MDR's difficulties, because it was the beginning of a process of destabilisation of the MDR party, and in destabilising the MDR it was also a beginning of destabilisation of the peace process in Rwanda.  

When you see the chain of events, you see that that is really the date where everything comes into the open.  Before that, everything happened in the shadows, because after that it became fully clear and affected the peace negotiations, as I referred to them before.  

Q.
Now, regarding the difficulties caused to the peace process, did the MDR respond with a communiqué on the 17th of June 1993? 

A.
I think there must have been a communiqué by the politburo, the political bureau, but I don't remember it, Counsel. 

Q.
Therefore, I would ask you to turn to bundle C, tab 16, page 211.  

A.
I have it, Counsel.  

Q.
Please take a look at it and identify the document, and tell us when you read it for the first time and what it actually represents, to your personal knowledge.  

A.
Right.  The document I have before me is a communiqué issued by the MDR politburo reporting on the decision taken by the party on the 7th of June 1993.  I should say that I personally took part and attended that meeting, and this was in response to the previous day, the 16th of June ‑‑ previous day's communiqué, in which the partner parties -- MDR's partners in the government, accused the government of having acted without informing the government and thus in violation of the rules.  

Well, from our point of view, that wasn't true and we wished to inform the public of what really had happened because our partners within the FDC seeming to have joined Habyarimana against Dismas Nsengiyaremye was, for us, a serious matter, and the public had to know what was going on.  So we issued this communiqué.  Perhaps I should read the pertinent paragraphs.  

Q.
Please do, Mr. Bicamumpaka.  

A.
"MDR politburo communiqué:  The MDR politburo, in extraordinary session, on the 17th of June 1993, it being chaired by the party chairman, in response to the communiqué issued on the 16th of June 1993 by the MRND, PSD and PL party leaders, after analysing the communiqué did not approve of the process whereby the document was issued or its contents.  The MDR politburo wishes to remind the Rwandan people that the MDR has, among its priority objectives, the struggle for peace and democracy.  For that reason, the MDR accepted to chair the transitional government with a view to ending the war ‑‑ putting an end to the war through negotiations.  

"The MDR political bureau reaffirms its support of the accords already signed and is happy with future prospects.  The political bureau acknowledges and values acceptance by the president of the republic that the ‑‑ that the president of the republic personally signed the peace accords concluded on 24th of June 1993, following the Arusha peace negotiations reiterating its stand, denouncing attempts by the MRND and its associates, their attempts to say prevent a successful outcome of the Arusha negotiations and appeals to them to refrain from hindering the peace negotiation process.  

"The MDR politburo seizes this opportunity to renew its thanks to the facilitator of the Arusha peace negotiations, His Excellency, President Ali Hassan Mwinyi -- M‑W‑I‑N‑Y‑I, Mwinyi -- as well as to the government of the United Republic of Tanzania and all observer countries and international organisations.  

"Concerning particularly the candidature to the post of prime minister to the broad‑based transitional government, the MDR politburo recalls that pursuant to articles 51 and 56 of the protocol of 30th November 1993 that it is left to the MDR party to put forward a candidate to that office.  To that end, the MDR politburo had proposed a candidate in the person of Mr. Dismas Nsengiyaremye.  

"The MDR politburo is ‑‑ therefore rigorously condemns the propaganda and lies to the effect that candidate Dismas Nsengiyaremye” -- there is something that is illegible here – “from his present position of prime minister in order to derail the procedure of ‑‑ the procedure of presentation of candidates to the negotiating parties in Arusha.  More specifically, it states in a document on the 24th of June 1993, it was planned to sign the Arusha Peace Accords, and that President Habyarimana had volunteered to sign himself."  

It's true, we wanted to accelerate ‑‑ when I say "we wanted", well, the Rwandan government wanted to accelerate the signing of the agreement, whereas many points were still outstanding, and they ‑‑ among them, major stumbling blocks, such as the formation of the new army.  Anyhow, the date of 24th of June had been proposed, but it wasn't carved in stone.  As you know, in fact, the agreements were signed on the 4th of August 1993.  

Q.
Mr. Bicamumpaka, to whom was this communiqué of the 17th of June 1993 ‑‑ for whom was it intended?  Who was it addressed to? 

A.
It is a public communiqué in which the party was speaking to public opinion ‑‑ was addressing public opinion to inform them of the situation; in other words, their support for the peace negotiations, and also to contradict the information rumoured that Dismas Nsengiyaremye had put in his candidacy without informing the government.  That was not the case, even if it was provided for in the previous agreement.  So we wanted public opinion to be fully informed so as to avoid any manipulation.  

MS. ST‑LAURENT: 

Can't we have the break now?  

MR. CROTEAU: 

Yes, immediately just after this question.  

BY MR. CROTEAU:

Q.
Mr. Bicamumpaka, can you tell us how widely was it published and how was it published?  Was it nationally?  Was it locally, regionally?  How many people and how was it brought to their attention?  And, after that, we will take the break.  

A.
It was the MDR political bureau that issued the communiqué; therefore, it is very significant.  Because, for the politburo to issue a communiqué, it must be a matter of importance, and indeed it was because it dealt with the peace negotiations, which was of capital importance, the future prime minister of the broad-based transitional government, and we wanted the accords to be signed expeditiously.  And that we should move on from being purely internal.  We should integrate the RPF and put an end to the war at last.  That was our main concern, the war.  

A communiqué such as this one by the politburo and adopted by the national executive committee is, first of all, addressed to all the parties that were members of government ‑‑ all political parties that were officially recognised in Rwanda, and it is addressed also to the embassies accredited to the state in Kigali, and, more particularly, those countries that were observers -- that had observer status at the peace negotiations.  I think there were six observer states that were observers at the negotiations.  

And then it was also addressed to the local press, and the international media with representatives in Kigali, Agents France Press, Reuters, international radio stations such as the Voice of America and the BBC; they all had permanent representatives in Kigali.  So all these journalists took ‑‑ had a physical copy of the document and must have reported on it.  I can't remember now, 15 years later, but as political activity was the intention at the time, I am certain that it was discussed and spoken of.  

MR. CROTEAU: 

Well, Madam President, if we are due to take a break this might be a propitious moment, with all due respect.  

MADAM PRESIDENT:

We resume after 15 minutes.  

(Court recessed from 1603H to 1633H)

MADAM PRESIDENT:

The session resumes.  Go ahead, Mr. Croteau.  

MR. CROTEAU: 

I am obliged, Madam President.  

BY MR. CROTEAU:

Q.
Mr. Bicamumpaka, before the break, you gave testimony on the MDR communiqué of 17 June 1993.  This time around, I am going to draw your attention to bundle D, document number 3, that is signed on page 19 thereof.  Can you look at it?  The document is entitled, "UN" ‑‑ it's a UN document, "Resolution 846, UNAMIR, 22 June 1993".  

A.
Which page is that?  

Q.
Page 19, bundle D.  

A.
Yes, I have located the page, Counsel. 

Q.
Very well.  Following the communiqué of the 17th of June that we talked about, did the MDR continue to carry out its action in a bid to put in place and to ensure the conditions for the establishment of the broad‑based transitional government were met for that government to be put in place?  And if your answer is in the affirmative, what is the relevance of this United Nations Security Council resolution?  

A.
Madam President, we have before us here a document of the UN Security Council.  This is Resolution 846 adopted by the Security Council at its 3244th session on the 22nd of June 1993. 

This resolution is the outcome of a joint request that was made by the respective governments of Rwanda and Uganda.  But the main initiator of the request was made by Rwanda, since the purpose of the request was that effective control should be organised along the borders that separated the two countries, that is, Rwanda and Uganda.  And that, in fact, in October 1990, Rwanda was attacked from Uganda.  And when the first attackers were pushed back from the Rwandan territory, they retreated to Uganda in order to attack Rwanda once again, to the extent that they were able to wield control over part of the Rwandan territory.  

It so happened that the RPF strength was derived from the support that it got from the state of Uganda.  And it was after several stalled talks and delays that, finally, the state of Uganda accepted ‑‑ so it was after several delays that Uganda finally accepted that a specific mission should be deployed all along that border in a bid to ensure the monitoring of trade or exchanges along that border and to subsequently stop any conveyance of weapons into Rwanda for the RPF, which weapons originated from Uganda. 

This is the resolution of June 1993, and the purpose thereof was, for practical purposes, to put in place the best possible conditions that would ensure the smooth application of the Arusha Accords.  The Nsengiyaremye government is the government that made this request of the United Nations.  And its desire was to create good conditions for the implementation of the Arusha Accords, and especially to make sure that the peace process should be irreversible and also to sever the ties that were binding the RPF and Uganda.  And I refer you to page 20 of this resolution so that you can better have a grasp of the nature of the mission and what was supposed to be its objective.  

I do not know if the interpreters are availed of this document, but I am going to read paragraphs 2, 3, 6, 7 and 9 of the resolution.  That would make five paragraphs.  I am going to begin reading it; that is, I will begin with paragraph number 2.  

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

Yes, Madam President, the interpreters have a copy of the French.  

THE WITNESS:

(Unintelligible)...has taken a position, has decided to establish a United Nations observer mission between Uganda and Rwanda" and, in parenthesis, "(MONUOR), which will be deployed on the Ugandan side of the border for an initial period of six months, pursuant to the report of the secretary‑general, and that can be reviewed every six months.  

Paragraph 3 decides that MONUOR shall observe the border ‑‑ or shall monitor the border between Uganda and Rwanda and verify that no military assistance reaches Rwanda ‑‑ or is given to Rwanda.  And, in this connection, emphasis is placed on the transiting and conveyance through the border using roads or paths ‑‑ that weapons and ammunition can be conveyed, as well as any other material that is likely to be used for military purposes.  

Paragraph 6 urges the government of Rwanda and the RPF to comply strictly with the rules of international humanitarian law.  

Paragraph 7 also urges the government of Rwanda and the RPF to refrain from undertaking any action that is likely to fan the flames of tension.  

And I will move on to the ninth and the last paragraph that I am going to read out:  

"Appeals to the government of Rwanda and to the RPF to conclude expeditiously a general peace accord, a comprehensive peace accord; in other words, the adoption of this resolution is also the result of pressure that was brought to bear on the two peace negotiators from the United Nations."  

So the Rwandan government, therefore, was pleased with the adoption of this resolution, since it wanted the war to be ended so that the democratic process can be pursued in order for Rwandans to find peace once again and engage in the development of their country.  So this resolution was the result of a coalition of the initiatives of the (unintelligible) government, of which the MDR was part.

BY MR. CROTEAU:

Q.
And talking about you specifically, Mr. Bicamumpaka, in real time, and in referring on the 22nd of June ‑‑ referring to the date of the 22nd of June 1993, did you get to be acquainted with this resolution in the days that followed?  And if your answer is in the affirmative, was it in your opinion ‑‑ or was the adoption of this resolution a guarantee of permanent peace for the Dismas government? 

A.
I would say that I became acquainted with this resolution in the days that followed the adoption thereof.  

I would even say, Counsel, that the establishment of that force was a matter of personal concern for me because, prior to the adoption of that resolution, we have attempted ‑‑ I think this was even the subject of negotiations ‑‑ I am talking about the time that Sylvestre Nsanzimana was still heading the government.  In any case, while he was the minister of foreign affairs and cooperation, that's what we refer to as GOMN; that is G‑O‑M‑N, an acronym that stands for neutral military observer group.  And since Rwanda was accusing Uganda of providing the RPF with military equipment and troops with which to attack Rwanda, during the negotiations, therefore, that were organised under the aegis of the states of the sub-region, we had agreed to establish an observer group that would be provided by the OAU that would comprise the Rwandan and Ugandan army officers.  Unfortunately, the result was not satisfactory, and, finally, that group was extended and put under the command of a Nigerian officer, and it included several countries.  

But, once again, the RPF consistently circumvented the work of those observers.  And it was interesting that some of them had been corrupted, to the extent that they left weapons to be brought into Rwanda instead of preventing them from being brought into the country.  So, as far as we were concerned, that is, those of us who were concerned with achieving peace and security for Rwanda, a United Nations force appeared to be better equipped to guarantee the effectiveness of the mission that was assigned to them.  And this is the reason why I was personally interested in such a force.  Even if I wasn't a member of government at the time, I could already be interested in a mission like this one. 

This also represented a positive achievement for the Nsengiyaremye government, since he himself was hoping that this time around weapons would no longer be entering into the country for the RPF.  But then experience showed that even with MONUOR, weapons continued to enter Rwandan territory clandestinely and illegally, including in April 1994.  

Q.
Now, let's go back to April 1994 – 1993.  My question is as follows:  At the time that was adopted on the 22nd of June 1993 were the Arusha peace negotiations still ongoing?  

A.
To my knowledge, yes, they were still being carried out. 

Q.
And who were those conducting the negotiations at that specific period of June 1993?  

A.
Unless I am mistaken, I think it was the minister of foreign affairs for Rwanda at the time, that is, Boniface Ngulinzira who was leading the negotiations.  He was also of the MDR.  

Q.
On the domestic front, Mr. Bicamumpaka, I would like to refer you to bundle C, Exhibit 17.  That would be on page 212.  Please take up that document and try to identify it.  

The English translation will be given to the Judges.  

A.
I have the document before me, Counsel.  

MR. BABAJIDE:

Could my learned friend extend his generosity to the Prosecution, please?  

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Do you have a copy for the Prosecutor in English?  

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

May the interpreters be availed of a copy as well, Madam President?  Thank you.  

MR. CROTEAU: 

Mr. Babajide, an English copy was disclosed to you during the last session.  If you really don't have any copy, I will lend you my English copy, and will use the French copy.  

MR. BABAJIDE: 

In the spirit of Ramadan, I will accept your generosity.  

BY MR. CROTEAU:

Q.
Now, Mr. Bicamumpaka, since the Prosecutor has a copy of the document already, which is a letter from the MDR, that is, a letter of 24th June 1994 to the president of the republic of Rwanda, I am going to put the following question to you.  We have dealt with the involvement at the Security Council.  We have also dealt with the continuation of the Arusha peace negotiations in Arusha, and during that same period of June 1993, now my question is as follows:   Upon consideration of this document that is signed by Faustin Twagiramungu, can you tell us of the relevance of this document? 

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

Madam President, I do not know if the interpreters have this document, because I can't locate it.  

MR. CROTEAU: 

This document is of much interest.  

MADAM PRESIDENT:

You have the extra copy?  

THE WITNESS:

Madam President, may I carry on?  

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

Madam President, the interpreters have been availed of a copy, thank you.  

THE WITNESS:

A while ago, before the short break, we were talking about the beginning of a process, a destabilisation process on the part of the MDR party, as well as the ‑‑ that of the peace process with effect from the 15th of June 1993.  Now we are talking about the 25th of June 1993, that is, 13 days from that beginning.  From the onset, Mr. Dismas Nsengiyaremye was being criticised of having forwarded his candidacy to Arusha without having informed the government, and the purpose of the attack against the prime minister, that is, the accusation levied against him, according to which he allegedly sent his name as candidate for the post of prime minister to Arusha where the negotiations were being carried out, and this without having apprised the government that he was heading.  

In that document signed by the president of the MDR party at the time of the events, that is, by Mr. Faustin Twagiramungu, the situation is therefore clarified in the document signed by the chairman of the MDR.  And I will read the three middle paragraphs of the document. 
(Pages 46 to 55 by Judith Baverstock)
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THE WITNESS (continued):  

Let's begin with the second paragraph:  

"With respect to the procedure for the assessment of the candidate to the post of prime minister, the political bureau of the MDR, in its extraordinary meeting of 24 June 1993, stated that in accordance with article 51, of the drafted agreement of 9 January 1993, the assessment should be conducted between the two negotiating parties in Arusha; namely, the government of Rwanda and the Rwandan Patriotic Front, through their respective delegations.
"Consequently, both the Rwandan government ‑‑ or, rather, the Rwandan government should have sent its comments on this candidature to its delegation in Arusha and not to the MDR.  The MDR political bureau maintains the candidature of Dr. Dismas Nsengiyaremye for the post of prime minister of the broad-based transitional government and requests the two negotiating parties to send, if they so wish, the point that they feel should be considered to the relevant authorities in Arusha.
"The MDR political bureau seizes this opportunity to draw the attention of the president of the republic to his responsibility in the delaying tactics ‑‑ in the tactics being used to delay this candidature with the sole aim of delaying the signing of the peace accords."  

The extract I've just read shows that the recessant of the candidature to the post of prime minister of the broad-based transitional government was supposed to be done in Arusha by the two negotiating parties acting together and not separately.  And we, in the MDR, submitted that candidacy in the proper way on the 10th of June.  And if one of the political parties that were members of the government had any criticism to make, either they should have ‑‑ should have communicated to us as their partners in government, or to the two negotiating parties, but in no case should one of the parties in the coalition have taken the prerogative to block the process.  They were ‑‑ neither had the power nor the capacity to do so.  This was improper.  And this letter, by the president of our party, we say, it's a delaying tactic, the concealed purpose of which was to delay the signing of the final peace accord.  

And this is on the 24th of June, but unfortunately we were not heard because the process of destabilisation continued until the government fell apart.  

BY MR. CROTEAU:

Q.
I interrupt you to know what happened after the 10th of June 1993 that made this letter to the president of the republic necessary. 

A.
Just before the break I had said that the day following the council of ministers on the 11th of June, Dismas left on official mission to Europe, Dismas Nsengiyaremye.  And profiting from his physical absence from Rwanda, the political parties, that had challenged him on the 11th of June, issued a communiqué in which they asked for so‑called clarifications regarding his having sent to Arusha without informing the government thereof.  He had sent his candidature ‑‑ candidacy to the post of prime minister of the broad-based government.  So that was on the 16th of June.  

And after that, the head of state asked the prime minister on mission in Europe to cut short his visit and come back to Rwanda.  Dismas Nsengiyaremye, therefore, had to cut short his visit and return to Rwanda without concluding it.  And that was on the 22nd of June.  

And on his arrival in Kigali, the president ‑‑ the head of state called a council of ministers, and the agenda was to assess the candidacy to the post of prime minister of the future government, as proposed by the MDR.  There was no consensus to the extent that out of 20 members of the government the MRND were nine and ‑‑ not including the president otherwise that would be 10 ‑‑ were opposed to the candidature.  As regards to the PL party, it would appear that they were divided (unintelligible) being for the prime minister, the others against.  And the PSD, the president whose name was Fréderic Nzamurambaho ‑‑ N‑Z‑A‑M‑U‑R‑A‑M‑B‑A‑H‑O.  So Frédéric Nzamurambaho, who was the president of the social democratic party, supported the prime minister, our candidate ‑‑ were certain members, Frédéric (sic) Gatabazi, a member of the national committee, who was a member of the government, was opposed to Dismas.  So there was no consensus in the council of ministers.  

And the head of state later sent a letter to the MDR party in ‑‑ informing us that our candidate had not obtained a consensus in the council of ministers.  I don't know what date that was.  I think, maybe, it was the 23rd.  

And in this letter of the 24th of June 1993, in paragraph 1 ‑‑ I will read it:  

"We refer to letter 876/01.35, from the director of the cabinet of the president of the republic concerning the candidature of the post of prime minister of the future broad-based transitional government.  So this is in response to the letter from the directeur de cabinet of President Habyarimana, who is writing on his behalf, beginning with a formula famous at the time ‑‑ words famous at the time, saying, I quote, "The President has instructed me to..."  So he was speaking for ‑‑ he was ‑‑ Habyarimana.  He was his spokesman and that is what this letter is.  

Q.
At that time, Mr. Bicamumpaka, 24th June 1993, to your knowledge, was there any discussion between the RPF and the government, its representatives in Arusha concerning this candidacy, that of Mr. Dismas Nsengiyaremye?

A.
In principle, the main ‑‑ the points discussed in Arusha by the two negotiating parties were points that had been the subject of a consensus at the ‑‑ the government in Arusha because the negotiator in Arusha represented the government and the president.  Although sometimes there was no real consensus and people had pushed and pulled on the side, but generally it was required to have a consensus for a point to be discussed.  But if a question was not the subject of consensus, but if there was sabotage because it wasn't formal ‑‑ formal ‑‑ Habyarimana wanted to have a second political life and that is why he tried to push things and, in various ways, tried to sabotage the MDR party, whereas he knew very well ‑‑ in his capacity, as head of state, if he had any comments to make, he should have made them in Arusha or, at least, inform the MDR party which he never did.  

Q.
To clarify further, who signed this letter of the 24th of June and in what capacity?

A.
I see here that it is signed by Mr. Faustin Twagiramungu who was chairman of the MDR.  And he copied it to the president of the CND, the parliament in other words, the prime minister and the political parties in the government coalition; the MRND, the PL, the PSD and the PDC.  And, finally, there was a copy ‑‑ it was copied also to the RPF.  

Q.
Did the MDR receive a reply from the president of the republic to this letter of the 24th of June 1993? 

A.
To my knowledge, yes.  He again, through his directeur de cabinet, sent a letter to the MDR and, at that time, he was trying ‑‑ and that time tried to blackmail us.  He accused our party of delaying the peace negotiations.  That made us laugh at the time because the president had initiated several obstacles to the negotiations throughout the preceding months, and this time he dared to accuse us, whom had been driving the negotiation forward, from sabotaging the peace ‑‑ accused us of sabotaging the ‑‑ of delaying the peace negotiations.  So you see what he was up to.  He knew very well that if he accused us of sabotage we would deny it.  And he accused us of being ‑‑ causing delay.  And it was very cynical.  And was a clear and calculated move which didn't surprise anyone who knew that man who was very wirely and foxy.  

Q.
How did you react? 

A.
We asked him in writing to give us in writing the reasons why he and the other people in the government who opposed our candidate give us the reasons for their refusal, because to refuse a candidate is not serious of itself, but it must be a motive, there must be grounds.  But neither Habyarimana, nor the MRND, nor the PSD, or PL leadership informed, out of respect for a partner in the coalition in the government, the reasons for their refusal ‑‑ or, their objections.  

Q.
What happened subsequently, Mr. Bicamumpaka?  Did the MDR do anything further, or did President Habyarimana do anything further? 

A.
There was total block.  And in the MDR, we wondered what the president's motives were.  It appeared clear to us that the president did not want ‑‑ that the peace negotiations should come to a fruitful conclusion.  It appeared to us that he wanted to sabotage the final phase of the negotiations, and the best way to do that was to launch destabilisation manoeuvres in destabilising the MDR which was the firmest democratic voice on the home front.  And the president did not ever change his line of reasoning.  We had several candidates.  If we accepted that Dismas should be turned down and put forward another candidate whereas the president had never explained to us his ‑‑ the reasons for his refusal, we might find us in a situation where he'd refuse again without reasons and we might run through six candidatures without knowing why they were turned down.  And I think that, to date, 15 years late ‑‑ 15 years later that we were quite right because the president's purpose was to weaken the party, and the best way to do that, to weaken a party ‑‑ a political party, is to start competitiveness in the leadership, especially for the post of prime ministers.  So we maintain his candidacy as long as we did not have the grounds for refusal.  So when June matters evolved, until the 14th of July 1993, which is an important date because Dismas Nsengiyaremye's government had been ‑‑ had its term of office extended for three months after the 16th of May, so it was due to expire on the 16th of July.  And on the 14th of July, the president called the leaders of the five party coalition ‑‑ government coalition for a meeting.  And our party was represented by the four members of the steering committee.  And once everybody was gathered together, the president opened the proceedings and spoke to those in attendance to tell them ‑‑ telling them that the purpose of the meeting was the possible extension of the life of the transitional government.  But he immediately put forward a condition that the MDR party should name a new candidate other than Dismas Nsengiyaremye to lead the government.  I'm talking of that transitional government, not the broad-based transitional government.  So it did not include the RPF.  So we, the members of the government, were surprised because they had been told the case of Dismas Nsengiyaremye's candidacy for the future broad-based transitional government, including the RPF, was to be evaluated.  So they told the president that they were surprised that this point had not been put on the agenda.  They were not mandated to discuss it, but as it was consultative they asked that the meeting be adjourned and that it should be held two days later, on the 16th, for the leaders to be able to inform the political bureau and seek a mandate before discussing it with the other partner of parties.  The meeting stood down, was adjourned.  And the next day, the 15th of June ‑‑

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

Said the witness.  

THE WITNESS:

We held the meeting of the MDR.  We were informed of what happened, that they ‑‑ before, at the president's meeting, and it was decided that the delegation should return to the meeting on the 16th with a mandate to ask the other parties in the interest of the Rwandan nation that the Nsengiyaremye government be extended, that ‑‑ to have its mandate extended until the day the Arusha accords were signed, which we expected very briefly.  So to extend the life of the government for one month was something we could not get involved in.  It was ‑‑ it showed, in fact, that the time to destabilise the MDR, while either ‑‑ was ‑‑ the point of it was to discredit the Arusha process or to sabotage it so that there might be no signing of the final accords.  

So the meeting reconvened on the 16th.  Our delegation communicated to the others what the recommendations of the MDR party were.  And I would add, Madam President, that even the president of Tanzania, Ali Hassan Mwinyi, who was the facilitator in the negotiations in Arusha, had written to Habyarimana imploring him, urging him to extend the mandate of the government so as to conclude successfully the Arusha accords, which was expected in the three or four weeks to follow.  

The MDR relied on that proposal by the facilitator in asking that the president ‑‑ to extend the government until the accords were signed.  But on the 16th there was no consensus.  The president refused.  And the other political parties, who seemed to be in alliance with the president, against the MDR ‑‑ and they played quite a funny trick, I mean, on the MDR.  The meeting was very long and they dragged it out for midnight to strike and midnight ‑‑ it was the time when the three months extension expired.  So after midnight, legally speaking, the ‑‑ Dismas Nsengiyaremye's government was no longer legal, if it had ‑‑ if its mandate had not been extended.  

At one or two minutes past midnight, one of the persons present dared to say to Dismas and with ‑‑ with ‑‑ with an air of ‑‑ spiteful air that his government no longer existed so he was no longer prime minister.  After one or two minutes he was ‑‑ and it was something that had been organised in advance.  

So they asked the MDR to put forward another candidate if it wished to continue to head the government.  And as for Faustin Twagiramungu, who headed the party and who was privy to their plot, and ‑‑ he wanted to dislodge Nsengiyaremye.  So he took upon himself a personal responsibility by proposing to the president Mrs. Agathe Uwilingiyimana ‑‑ put her forward as candidate to the post of prime minister.  Agathe Uwilingiyimana was not present, but it is obvious that by doing what he did, without informing his party, he was part of the conspiracy.  

With that scenario of the two minutes past midnight, the three other parties, apart from Faustin ‑‑ 

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

The witness says he did not hear what the Judge said. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

That was not for you.  

THE WITNESS:

I said there were four MDR party members present.  They learnt there and then at the meeting that one of them had sold out.  We'll see why later.  The three others, the vice president and executive secretary stood up and left the meeting, so only MRND, PL, PSD and Twagiramungu were present to finalise an agreement to extend the protocol of the 7th of April 1992.  And two days later a new government was instituted.  That, therefore, Counsel, is what led to the withdrawal of the MDR party from the government the very next day.  

MR. CROTEAU:

We might perhaps end there ‑‑ conclude for today and continue tomorrow morning.  

I now must tender the exhibits that we discussed today.  

MADAM PRESIDENT:

(Microphones overlapping) 

MR. CROTEAU:

(No interpretation) 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

We start with binder C?  

MR. CROTEAU:

(No interpretation) 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

We're not getting the translation.  

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

Sorry.  Sorry.  Could he repeat, please?  

MR. CROTEAU:

The Prime Minister Dismas Nsengiyaremye's letter, dated 22nd September 1992 to President Habyarimana, bundle C, tab 13, page 198; 3D. 22. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

This would be 3D ‑‑ 

MR. CROTEAU:

3D. 22. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Is it 22?  

MR. CROTEAU:

Yes.  Oui.
(Exhibit No. 3D. 22E and 3D. 22F admitted)
MADAM PRESIDENT:

Okay.  

Then what is the next document.  

MR. CROTEAU:

Document concerning the massacre of MDR party members in Ruhengeri dated the 26th of January 1993. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Just a minute.  We have the English version of 3D. 22.  So that would be 3D. 22F and E.  Am I right, Mr. Croteau?  

MR. CROTEAU:

Yes, Madam President. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Okay.  

What's the next?  

MR. CROTEAU:

Document concerning the massacre of MDR party members in Ruhengeri dated the 26th of January 1993, bundle C, tab 14, page 204; 3D. 23. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Okay.  Thank you. 

(Exhibit No. 3D. 23E and 3D. 23F admitted)
MADAM PRESIDENT:

The English will be Exhibit 3D. 23E ‑‑ E for English, and F for French.  Okay.  Thank you.  

What's next?  

MR. CROTEAU:

The next document communiqué number five, 5th of February 1993, bundle C, tab 15, page 210, which is in Kinyarwanda, translated into English and French; 3D. 24, F for the French, E for the English, and K for the Kinyarwanda. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Thank you.  
(Exhibit No. 3D. 24E, 3D. 24F and 3D. 24K admitted)

MADAM PRESIDENT:  
What's next?  

MR. CROTEAU:

For the next document I need Counsel Babajide's agreement.  My assistant spoke to him about it.  It is the personal passport of Mr. Bicamumpaka that was issued on the ‑‑ I think he said the 13th of February 1993.  He hasn't ‑‑ oh, 20th of February ‑‑ 20th February 1993.  It is because it chronologically fits, although we have not yet questioned him about this.  We will come to that later.  But there is a copy of it in bundle C.

MADAM PRESIDENT:

(Microphones overlapping)  

MR. CROTEAU:

Madam President, it is because ‑‑ it is because of the numbering of the exhibits, but I can do it tomorrow.  That would be all right too.  

MR. BABAJIDE:

My Lords, I don't think there was any testimony today in respect of that particular document.  I think when we get to that ‑‑ 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

We'll do it tomorrow. 

MR. CROTEAU:  

We'll do it tomorrow.  

So the next exhibit is communiqué by the MDR political bureau, dated 17th of June 1993, bundle C, tab 16, page 211, in the French and in the English.  And this could be Exhibit 3D. 25, F for the French, E for the English.  

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Okay. 

(Exhibit No. 3D. 25E and 3D. 25F admitted)
MR. CROTEAU:

The following is UN resolution 846 concerning MONUOR, 22nd June 1993, bundle D, tab 3, page 19, in the bundle in the French and in the English.  

MADAM PRESIDENT:

This will be 3D. 26.  

MR. CROTEAU:

That is correct, Madam President; French F, English E.

(Exhibit No. 3D. 26E and 3D. 26F admitted) 

MADAM PRESIDENT:

That's it?  

MR. CROTEAU:

And, finally, letter from Faustin Twagiramungu, dated the 24th of June 1993, bundle C, document 17, page 212; 3D. 27, F for the French, E for the English. 

(Exhibit No. 3D. 27E and 3D. 27F admitted) 

MR. CROTEAU:

And that concludes today as far as I'm concerned.  

MADAM PRESIDENT:

Thank you.  So we stop for today and resume tomorrow morning at 9:00.  

And before we rise may I remind you, Mr. Bicamumpaka, not to discuss your evidence with anyone outside the Court.  Thank you. 
(Court adjourned at 1745H)
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